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financial calendar 2006

presentation of results for the first quarter 11 May

Annual general meeting 11 May

presentation of results for the second quarter 16 August

presentation of results for the third quarter 27 october

highlightS of 2005

Acquisition of 33.4 per cent of the shares in uAB 
Kitron in December. this company is thereby 
wholly-owned by Kitron ASA. 

Decision to close the oslo manufacturing facility 
of the norwegian eMS business area and to 
merge its two plants in Arendal. A noK 45 
million private placement to finance the structural 
measures is approved in october. 

the hermis Capital private equity fund acquires 
Whitecliff ASA’s shares in Kitron during July, 
making it the company’s largest shareholder. 

A rights issue raises noK 50 million in April to 
maintain Kitron’s loan covenants.
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MAN-YEARS
BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA

■ Norway ■ Lithuania ■ Sweden

23%
60%

17%

highlightS of 2005

TURNOVER
BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA

■ Norway ■ Rest of Europe
■ Sweden ■ USA ■ Other

51%
40%

4%4%
1%

TURNOVER
BY MARKET SEGMENT

■ Defence/Marine ■ Medical Equipment
■ Data/Telecom ■ Industry

28%
27%

23%

22%

Key figureS

�

(Amounts in noK million) 2005 2004
2003 

(ngAAp)

orders and results

new orders 1 59� 1 722 1 894
order backlog at 31 December 781 764 790
turnover  1 576.�  1 748.0  1 821.4 
gross margin 40.�% 39.2% 38.9%
eBitDA  (2.6)  (15.0)  72.4 
loss before tax  (58.2)  (71.8)  (9.2)

earnings per share (noK)  (0.�9)  (0.57)  (0.45)

Balance sheet

equity at 31 December  151.1  128.1  251.5 
equity ratio at 31 December 2�.2% 21.0% 34.2%
interest-bearing debt at 31 December 49.0  33.5  38.0 
total capital at 31 December  652.5  610.8  734.9 

share

Share price at 31 December (noK)  2.92  2.79  5.35 
Average number of shares 151 599 225  131 645 503  108 666 555
number of shares at 31 December  172 961 625  134 634 325  125 543 325

employees

employees at 31 December 1 282  1 333  1 379 
Man-years at 31 December  1 200  1 250  1 282 
Sickness absence 5.9% 6.2% 7.3%



    ExpErtisE and flExibility at EvEry stagE
Kitron is one of Scandinavia’s leading companies for 
the development, industrialisation and production of 
specially-tailored electronics which contribute in turn to 
customer success. it is characterised by long experience, 
a high level of expertise and great flexibility in the proc-
ess from idea to overall finished product. Confidence in 
quality and the ability to deliver at competitive prices are 
important reasons why demanding customers choose 
Kitron.

With 1 282 employees, the group pursues develop-
ment and manufacturing operations at nine facilities in 
norway, Sweden and lithuania. Kitron gives priority to 
the Defence/Marine, industry, Data/telecom and Medi-
cal equipment business segments. Close cooperation 
between the Kitron group’s units create great flexibility 
and a short distance from drawing board to finished prod-
uct, as well as competitive costs.

two businEss arEas
the Kitron group embraces two business areas. one is 
electronics manufacturing services (eMS), represented 
by the Kitron AB, Kitron AS and uAB Kitron subsidiar-
ies. these units account for about 90 per cent of group 
turnover.

Accounting for about 10 per cent of group turnover, 
the other area is microelectronics. this is organised in 
Kitron Microelectronics AS and Kitron Microelectronics 
AB.

Common sourCing
the two business areas are served by a common sourcing 
function. Kitron Sourcing ensures that the group achieves 
the best prices and terms at all times for its raw materials 
and components. Quality assurance of each supplier’s 
quality and ability to deliver is also essential for the busi-
ness.

flExiblE turnkEy suppliEr
Kitron is working to enhance its competitiveness even 
further by expanding its range of services to embrace an 
even larger part of the value chain.

Services range from development and design, via 
industryalisation, sourcing and logistics, to manufactur-
ing, re-design and upgrading of products to extend their 
useful life in the market.

Kitron in Brief

Vision
Kitron will be the leading provider of 
contract electronics manufacturing in 
Scandinavia and the natural choice for 
demanding customers.

Business concept
Kitron will strengthen the competitive-
ness of its customers by offering services 
throughout the value chain.
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1966 Kitron (Statronics) is founded at Kilsund in Arendal as a supplier of  
 electronic products to the merchant fleet and the defence forces.

1978 name becomes Kitron, and the business concept is changed to contract  
 manufacturing of electronics. 

1989 Alcatel acquires Kitron.

1997 Kitron sold to financial investors, and receives a listing on the oslo Stock  
 exchange. Acquires the nera ASA manufacturing unit in risør.

1998 Kitron acquires propartner AS.

1999 Kitron acquires Contec Design AS and Combitech electronics AB,  
 and merges with Alphatron industryer ASA.

2000 Kitron acquires the electronics manufacturing business of Saab Bofors  
 Dynamics in Karlskoga and merges with Sonec ASA, which represents  
 the continuation of electronics manufacturing at tandberg Data,  
 elektrisk Bureau in Arendal, Kongsberg electronics AS and Siemens AS in  
 oslo.

2001 Kitron acquires uAB Audiocom in lithuania.

2002 Acquisition of manufacturing operations at tandberg Data AS and  
 electronics division of Alcatel norway AS.

200� Kitron disposes of Capinor AS subsidiary at gjøvik.

2004 Acquisition of hgl flen AB in Sweden. Kitron’s operations at Kongsberg  
 are wound up, with production transferred to Arendal.

2005 Kitron simplifies its corporate structure, closes the oslo manufacturing  
 unit and combines the two plants in Arendal on a single site.

history of kitron
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kitron ElECtroniC manufaCturing sErviCEs 
(Ems):

Kitron’s services for contract electronics manufacturing 
embrace more than production. geographical proximity to the 
customer is crucial for most of these processes. Kitron has an 
advantage here in its geographical markets.

A growing proportion of its customers are transferring 
responsibility to Kitron for an increasing part of the value 
chain. integrated sourcing and high-level assembly (hlA) of 
complete products are among the assignments taken on by 
the group. for the customer, this means reduced costs and an 
assurance of efficiency, price and delivery.

kitron miCroElECtroniCs:

Demanding and robust technology solutions in every area 
from lighting and vehicle on-board units for toll roads to con-
trol systems for the defence forces and car industry are devel-
oped and manufactured by Kitron Microelectronics. this busi-
ness is characterised by great flexibility and a strong focus on 
technology.

Kitron Microelectronics offers development, industryalisa-
tion and production of electronic modules based on thick-film 
and high-frequency microwave technologies, and represents 
an important priority area for the group. Microelectronics is 
distinguished from conventional electronics by the connection 
techniques employed. 

the market for microelectronics is expanding, and certain 
other nordic players are showing an interest. Kitron has a 
competitive edge through its experience, expertise and estab-
lished customer relations. Most of the growth in this market is 
taking place in the Data/telecom and industry segments.

Business areas
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  dEfEnCE/marinE

Defence/Marine was Kitron’s largest 
market segment in 2005, with a turn-
over of noK 450.3 million (2004: noK 
524.1 million), or 28.6 per cent of group 
turnover (2004: 30 per cent).

Kitron ranks as one of the leading 
contract manufacturers for the defence 
industry, and has a limited number 
of competitors. Cooperation with the 
norwegian and Swedish defence sec-
tors was further extended during 2005. 
Although the defence industry is not 
expanding, Kitron is working to grow its 
contracts by gaining entry to a larger 
part of the development and manufac-
turing process. A stronger focus on off-
set agreements in norway means that 
the group is now pursuing a number of 
opportunities in this segment.

the level of marine activity is also 
rising. this sector represents a growth 
area through monitoring and control 
systems for ships. the need to upgrade 
seismic survey equipment is making a 
positive contribution to Kitron.

market segments

  data/tElECom

turnover in the Data/telecom segment 
totalled noK 422.4 million (2004: noK 
489.5 million), or 26.8 per cent of group 
turnover (2004: 28 per cent).

eMS turnover was low throughout 
2005 in this segment, partly because two 
manufacturing assignments were trans-
ferred to Asia. Data/telecom is char-
acterised by longer production series 
than the group’s other segments, and 
accordingly faces greater competition 
from Asian low-cost nations. Closeness 
to customers is nevertheless important, 
particularly in relation to industryalisa-
tion processes and development work. 
Kitron is well positioned through a high 
level of development expertise, close-
ness to customers, and low-cost pro-
duction at its lithuanian plant.

  mEdiCal EquipmEnt

turnover in the Medical equipment segment 
was good throughout 2005, and totalled 
noK 344.4 million (2004: noK 364.2 mil-
lion), or 21.9 per cent of group turnover 
(2004: 20.8 per cent).

the market is growing, and Kitron has 
retained its share. Demand for manufactur-
ing medical equipment is also rising globally, 
while products are becoming more complex. 
Competition on the manufacturing side 
nevertheless means that prices are under 
pressure. through a commitment extending 
over several years, however, Kitron is well 
positioned against competition from players 
large and small in this segment. Marketing 
work has involved strengthening and further 
developing existing customer relations and 
positioning the group to manufacture com-
plete systems for customers.

through contracts secured during the 
year, Kitron has confirmed that it has the 
requirements needed for high-level assem-
bly (hlA) assignments. the trend towards 
more hlA work is continuing, and Kitron is 
well positioned.

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

200520042003
27%

28%

29%

30%

31%

32%

33%

TURNOVER DEVELOPMENT
DEFENCE/MARINE
■ Turnover in NOK million
■ Share of total turnover in per cent

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

200520042003
26%

27%

28%

29%

30%

31%

32%

TURNOVER DEVELOPMENT
DATA/TELECOM
■ Turnover in NOK million
■ Share of total turnover in per cent

240

260

280

300

320

340

360

200520042003
0%

4%

8%

12%

16%

20%

24%

TURNOVER DEVELOPMENT
MEDICAL EQUIPMENT
■ Turnover in NOK million
■ Share of total turnover in per cent

8



  industry

turnover in the industry segment 
totalled noK 359.3 million (2004: noK 
372.5 million), or 22.8 per cent of group 
turnover (2004: 21.2 per cent).

this segment is characterised by sta-
bility and continuity in customer rela-
tions and volumes. A change in prod-
uct family generations is under way at a 
number of Kitron’s customers. the abil-
ity to support these customers is cru-
cial for securing a competitive position 
in relation to the new products. Kitron’s 
development resources make a strong 
contribution to these processes, and 
the group is involved in the redesign of 
existing products at a number of cus-
tomers.
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We experienced 2005 as yet another 
year when substantial measures were 
needed to reduce our vulnerability to 
market fluctuations. the decision was 
taken to close the manufacturing unit 
in oslo, and its output has now been 
transferred to other parts of the group. 
it was also resolved to concentrate the 
two facilities in Arendal at the hisøy 
site during the first half of 2006. this 
restructuring gives our group a simpler 
structure, which makes us more com-
petitive in a developing market.

savings targEt rEaChEd
the savings promised as a result of the 
action taken in 2004 were achieved 
with a margin, but the need for capac-
ity reductions and simplification of the 
business proved greater than we had 
expected a year earlier. the reduced 
scope of orders from a number of large 
customers weakened results for the 
norwegian business.

Whitecliff, our principal shareholder, 
sold its holding in the group to lithua-
nian investment company uAB hermis 
Capital in July 2005. this led to changes 
in our board. We have owners with great 
faith in the business. they provided the 
necessary capital on two occasions dur-
ing the year to allow us to create a basis 
for profitability.

Continuous improvEmEnt
As part of the work of building con-
fidence among customers, suppliers, 
owners and the financial market, we 
will work hard to make our perform-
ance more predictable. this requires 
us to follow developments closely and 
seize opportunities for quick changes of 
pace in response to the market. We will 
constantly seek to identify opportunities 
to work even more efficiently in order to 
achieve profitability.

our markets are developing rapidly. 
flexibility and adaptability are accord-
ingly crucial for our ability to create 
value over time. We have the experi-
ence, expertise and flexibility needed to 
continue fighting in the front line of our 
market segments.

turnkEy suppliEr
our most important competitive advan-
tages are closeness to customers, flex-
ibility, cost-efficiency, quality and the 
ability to deliver throughout the value 
chain for electronics manufacturing. 
We won several important orders during 
2005 on the basis of these advantages. 
new contracts which make us respon-
sible for assembly and system testing 
of complete products for the end user 
confirm our credibility as a supplier of 
expanded services relating to electron-
ics manufacturing. offset opportuni-
ties in the defence segment also offer 
an exciting potential for Kitron in the 
future.

We have big ambitions in the Swed-
ish market, and are pleased that our 
dedicated efforts in that country are 
now starting to bear fruit. the poten-
tial is also present for good growth in 
our lithuanian business, which has an 
important role in our future strategy.

Kitron Microelectronics exceeded 
expectations in 2005, and is constantly 
securing openings in new sectors and 
markets on the basis of its technol-
ogy. it has achieved the status of pre-
ferred partner in developing a new light-
ing solution with great potential, for 
instance.

imprEssivE CommitmEnt
our employees are showing a big com-
mitment to delivering quality at every 
level, continuing to develop good cus-
tomer relations, winning new projects 

and not least improving the profitabil-
ity of existing work. even after the tur-
bulence in late 2005, employees have 
shown an impressive attitude and com-
mitment. they deserve praise for that.

We now have a simple and orderly 
structure in which each employee and 
manager has a clear responsibility. our 
common goals are profitability, efficient 
processes and good technical solutions. 
this is how we will succeed in contribut-
ing to the success of our customers.

Jan t. Jørgensen
president and Ceo

roBuSt AnD forWArD-looKing

following an extra round of restructuring which has 
cut costs, Kitron takes an optimistic view of the future. 
new market opportunities have emerged, and we have 
demonstrated our competitiveness along a larger part 
of the value chain for electronic products.
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group opErations 
Kitron’s business concept is to offer 
electronics development, design, indus-
tryalisation and manufacturing services 
to industryal players. these activities 
are pursued at Arendal, røros and oslo 
in norway, at Jönköping, Karlskoga 
and flen in Sweden, and at Kaunas in 
lithuania. operations in lithuania are 
pursued to Scandinavian standards with 
highly-qualified personnel. 

the group’s activities are divided into 
the following business areas: 

kitron electronic manufacturing serv-
ices (ems) covers a broad range of 
services relating to electronics manu-
facturing. long experience and a high 
level of expertise in such manufactur-
ing, combined with great flexibility and 
modern equipment, ensure high quality. 
efficient processes, good sourcing func-
tion and low-cost manufacturing secure 
profitability. good logistics solutions 
are offered, and Kitron delivers in many 
cases directly to the ultimate customer. 

kitron microelectronics offers develop-
ment, industryalisation and manufac-
turing of electronic modules based on 
thick-film and high-frequency micro-
wave technologies. the market for such 
deliveries represents an important prior-
ity area for Kitron. Microelectronics is 
distinguished from conventional elec-
tronics by the connection techniques 
employed. 

markEt sEgmEnts 
Kitron’s business is characterised by 
complex manufacturing processes and 
a high content of specialised expertise. 
on this basis, the group has chosen to 
focus its sales efforts on the Defence/
Marine, Data/telecom, Medical equip-
ment and industry segments.

defence/marine 
Defence/Marine was Kitron’s largest 
market segment in 2005, with a turno-
ver of noK 450.3 million (2004: noK 
524.1 million), or 28.6 per cent of group 
turnover (2004: 30 per cent).

data/telecom 
turnover in the Data/telecom segment 
totalled noK 422.4 million (2004: noK 
489.5 million), or 26.8 per cent of group 
turnover (2004: 28 per cent).

medical Equipment 
turnover in the Medical equipment seg-
ment was good throughout 2005, and 
totalled noK 344.4 million (2004: noK 
364.2 million), or 21.9 per cent of group 
turnover (2004: 20.8 per cent).

industry 
turnover in the industry segment 
totalled noK 359.3 million (2004: noK 
370.3 million), or 22.8 per cent of group 
turnover (2004: 21.3 per cent).

highlights of 2005
reduced orders and delayed production 
starts for significant contracts meant 
that activity and turnover in 2005 were 
lower than planned. After several quar-
ters with declining sales and weak prof-
itability, the Kitron board resolved to 
reduce capacity in the norwegian eMS 
business. Manufacturing operations in 
Kilsund and hisøy are to be concen-
trated at the Kitron premises in hisøy 
during the first half of 2006. the man-
ufacturing unit in oslo is being closed 
down, with production transferred to 
uAB Kitron in lithuania and the group’s 
other factories in the first quarter of 
2006. this merger and closure affect 
roughly 100 man-years in total.

these measures were necessary to 
secure the group’s future profitability, 

and are expected to yield annual sav-
ings of about noK 51 million from the 
second quarter of 2006.

improvement opportunities will also 
be assessed in Kitron’s Swedish busi-
ness. Development activities in the 
group are not affected by the meas-
ures being taken. Kitron’s strategy is 
unchanged, and its marketing efforts 
are being intensified.

finanCial aspECts
the board considers that the annual 
accounts provide a true and fair view 
of Kitron ASA as well as the group’s 
assets and liabilities, financial position 
and result. 

Kitron is reporting in accordance with 
the international financial reporting 
Standards (ifrS) from 2005. Compara-
tive figures for 2004 have been restated 
to the ifrS. the accounting principles 
applied under the ifrS do not differ 
significantly for Kitron from norwegian 
generally-accepted accounting princi-
ples. the differences relate primarily to 
pension obligations, tax and goodwill.

profit and loss aCCount 
operating income for 2005 totalled 
noK 1 576.3 million compared with 
noK 1 748 million the year before, 
which represented a decline of 9.8 per 
cent. About noK 36 million of the 
turnover reduction reflects a rise in the 
noK exchange rate. Although turnover 
was lower than expected, the micro-
electronics business area made very 
positive progress during 2005. Kitron 
eMS accounted for 89.5 per cent of 
operating income in 2005, Kitron Micro-
electronics for 12.4 per cent, while other 
items and eliminations amounted to a 
negative 1.9 per cent. the group’s order 
backlog at 31 December 2005 totalled 
noK 781 million, compared with noK 

BoArD of DireCtorS’ report

restructuring made its mark on Kitron’s results for 2005. Cost 
savings realised during the year and the decision to implement 
new adjustments to a lower level of activity have greatly redu-
ced the group’s cost base which, together with a higher order 
backlog, will contribute to profitability in 2006.
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764 million a year earlier.
the gross margin for 2005 was 40.3 

per cent compared with 39.2 per cent 
the year before. this positive devel-
opment primarily reflects the strate-
gic commitment to the group’s sourc-
ing function. A larger share of Kitron’s 
turnover occurs in the microelectronics 
business area, which has a higher gross 
margin than eMS. 

the number of man-years declined 
from 1 250 at 31 December 2004 to 
1 200 at the end of 2005. group pay-
roll costs simultaneously declined from 
noK 528.2 million in 2004 to noK 
475.3 million. 

operating results for 2004 and 2005 
include provisions of noK 24.2 million 
and noK 49.5 million respectively for 
structural activities. the cost-cutting 
measures implemented in 2004 yielded 
the planned results in 2005. As commu-
nicated earlier, the goal was to reduce 
costs by noK 70 million for 2005 as a 
whole. excluding provisions for struc-
tural activities in 2004 and 2005, pay-
roll and operating costs declined by 
noK 64.7 million and noK 23.9 million 
respectively as a result of the measures 
– a combined total of noK 88.6 million.

After several quarters with declining 
turnover and weak profitability in 2005, 
the board resolved in october to imple-
ment additional restructuring measures. 
A total of noK 49.5 million has been 
charged to the 2005 accounts for the 
reorganisation of the norwegian eMS 
business, including noK 11.6 million 
charged to payroll costs and noK 37.9 
million to other operating costs. the 
measures adopted are expected to yield 
annual savings of roughly noK 51 mil-
lion from the second quarter of 2006. 

the group made an operating loss of 
noK 34.4 million in 2005, which repre-
sents an improvement of noK 18.9 mil-

lion from 2004. 
net financial expenses for the group 

rose from noK 18.5 million in 2004 to 
noK 23.9 million. this increase can be 
attributed to currency gains in 2004 and 
losses in 2005. Kitron thereby made a 
pre-tax loss of noK 58.2 million in 2005 
(2004: noK 71.8 million). 

Kitron’s tax for 2005 differs strongly 
from theoretical tax mainly as a result of 
not having recorded deferred tax assets 
on the basis of the company’s tax loss 
for 2005. 

the group showed a net loss of noK 
58.9 million (2004: noK 73.8 million), 
representing negative earnings per 
share of noK 0.39 (2004: noK 0.57).

Cash flow 
Cash flow from operations was noK 9.4 
million, compared with a negative figure 
of noK 32.4 million for 2004. 

the difference in cash flow from 
operational activities and the compa-
ny’s operating result is to a large extent 
due to the provisions for restructuring 
and write-down of property.

net cash flow from investment was 
negative at noK 39.5 million (2004: 
noK 23.7 million). the liquidity effect 
of investment in tangible fixed assets 
came to noK 28.5 million. 

net cash flow from financing 
amounted to noK 92 million. Kitron 
carried out a rights issue and a private 
placement in 2005 which raised noK 
50 million and noK 45 million respec-
tively. this provided the company with 
noK 90.8 million in net equity. noK 4.3 
million in long-term debt was repaid dur-
ing the year.

balanCE shEEt and liquidity 
the total balance sheet at 31 Decem-
ber 2005 was noK 652.5 million (2004: 
noK 610.8 million). equity at the same 

date was noK 151.1 million (2004: 
noK 128.1 million). 

liquid assets totalled noK 113.2 
million at 31 December (2004: noK 
30.1 million). 

Capital tied up in inventory was 
reduced by noK 3.9 million during 
2005, and totalled noK 242.5 million 
at 31 December (2004: noK 246.4 
million). the company is continuing its 
efforts to achieve further reductions in 
capital tied up in inventory. Capital tied 
up in accounts receivable totalled noK 
90.4 million at 31 December (2004: 
noK 130.8 million). Sales of accounts 
receivable represented noK 208 million 
at 31 December (2004: noK 223 mil-
lion). 

in connection with the restructuring 
of the norwegian eMS business, provi-
sions totalling noK 49.5 million were 
made in the fourth quarter of 2005 for 
payroll and other operating costs as well 
as impairment loss on real property. At 
31 December, a residual provision of 
noK 39.4 million was available to cover 
payroll and other operating costs. 

the group’s interest-bearing debt 
totalled noK 49 million at 31 December 
(2004: noK 33.5 million). this included 
noK 11.8 million (2004: noK 16.2 mil-
lion) in long-term debt.

finanCial Conditions 
in order to strengthen the company’s 
capital base, an extraordinary general 
meeting of 30 March 2005 resolved to 
carry out a rights issue. this was needed 
to satisfy conditions set by the compa-
ny’s principal banks for a continuation 
of existing loans and credit facilities for 
the group. A total of 22 727 300 new 
shares were issued at a subscription 
price of noK 2.20 per share, yielding 
gross proceeds of noK 50 million. the 
issue was completed on 20 April.
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At its meeting of 21 november 2005, 
the Kitron board resolved to carry out a 
private placement of 15.6 million shares 
at a subscription price of noK 2.90 per 
share, corresponding to gross proceeds 
of noK 45.2 million. the issue was car-
ried out to strengthen equity as a result 
of the structural measures approved by 
the company’s board on 26 october 
2005.

going ConCErn
pursuant to section 3-3 in the norwe-
gian Accounting Act, the board con-
firms that the accounts have been pre-
pared on the assumption that the com-
pany is a going concern and that this 
assumption is realistic.

finanCial markEt risk 
Changes in exchange rates affect Kitron 
both directly and indirectly. the direct 
impact reflects the fact that about 40 
per cent of the company’s materials 
purchases are made in foreign curren-
cies and will accordingly be affected 
positively by a strengthening of the 
norwegian krone and negatively by a 
weakening. group earnings in foreign 
currencies will be inversely affected by 
such developments. efforts are made to 
balance the company’s revenues in for-
eign currencies against materials pur-
chased in foreign currencies in order to 
minimise the currency risk.

Changes in general market interest 
rates will affect Kitron’s results through 
changes in its financial expenses. Kitron 
has not hedged its borrowing through 
financial interest rate instruments.

Kitron hedges the credit risk for about 
85 per cent of its turnover through its 
factoring arrangement. the remaining 
sales represent traditional credit risk. 
historically, Kitron’s bad debts have 
been low. 

A total of noK 90.8 million in net new 
equity was raised during 2005. As men-
tioned above, these issues were nec-
essary to secure the flexibility required 
by the group to make the structural 
changes needed and to maintain exist-
ing loans and credit facilities. the board 
regards the company’s future liquidity 
as satisfactory.

hEalth, safEty and thE 
EnvironmEnt 
the group had a total of 1 282 employ-
ees, representing 1 200 man-years, at 
31 December 2005. these personnel 
are distributed geographically as shown 
in the tables on the next page.

no serious work accidents or occu-
pational injuries were suffered by 
employees during 2005. total sickness 
absence in Kitron declined from 6.2 per 
cent in 2004 to 5.9 per cent. to con-
tribute to an improved working environ-
ment and a further reduction in sickness 
absence, the group’s norwegian com-
panies have concluded inclusive work-
place (iA) agreements with their work-
forces. these efforts will continue in the 
time to come. 

the group causes no pollution of the 
natural environment worth mentioning. 
Several of its subsidiaries are certified 
in accordance with the nS iSo 14000 
series of environmental management 
standards. 

Equal opportunitiEs 
Women accounted for 48 per cent of 
the 1 200 man-years in the company 
at 31 December 2005, and 54 per cent 
of the 865 man-years involved directly 
in manufacturing. they also accounted 
for 31 per cent of the company’s 335 
man-years in other indirect functions, 
while men account for 69 per cent. 

the average pay of women working 

directly in manufacturing in the norwe-
gian and Swedish companies is roughly 
94 per cent of the average pay for men. 
A large proportion of the workforce in 
this category is union members, whose 
pay is determined by negotiated agree-
ments. their pay rates are based prima-
rily on expertise and seniority. pay rates 
can vary between the various subsidiar-
ies, but do not distinguish between gen-
ders. 

other indirect functions embrace 
personnel in management, staffs and 
other support services. the corporate 
and company managements are cur-
rently dominated by men, even though 
women are represented both in the cor-
porate management team and in the 
local management teams. no gender-
based differences exist with regard to 
working hours. 

the company’s basic attitude is that 
men and women should have equal 
opportunities for work and career devel-
opment in Kitron. its factory-based 
manufacturing operations have tradi-
tionally employed a large proportion of 
female personnel. this trend is expected 
to continue.

Management development proc-
esses have been pursued with a particu-
lar focus on middle management, both 
male and female, in various functions. 
in the longer term, this is expected to 
help ensure an increase in the number 
of women managers in the company. 
Activities have also been launched to 
increase female representation in the 
boardroom.

ChangEs in thE board
As a result of Whitecliff selling his shares 
in Kitron to hermis Capital, a new board 
was elected at an extraordinary general 
meeting on 16 August 2005. follow-
ing demands from shareholders that 
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Chair
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Director
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Director

liv Johansen
Director

preben Jensen
Director

Jan t. Jørgensen
president and Ceo

gEographiC distribution – EmployEEs

norway Sweden lithuania  total

employees at 31 December 2004 814 319 200 1 333
Changes (23) (32) 4 (51)
employees at 31 December 2005 791 287 204 1 282

represented more than five per cent of 
the shares in the company, there was a 
notice for a new extraordinary general 
meeting on 26 September 2005. Kjell e. 
Almskog was once again elected to be a 
member of the board, while Magnus B. 
lindseth resigned his post and entered 
the board as an observer. 

CorporatE govErnanCE 
the board of Kitron has adopted prin-
ciples for corporate governance to 
safeguard the interests of the com-
pany’s owners, employees and other 
stakeholders. these principles are also 
intended to clarify the division of roles 
between shareholders, directors and 
management. the object of the com-
pany’s principles is to enhance predict-
ability and transparency, and thereby 
reduce uncertainties associated with 
the business. they will underpin the 
objectives which guide Kitron’s activi-
ties. the board seeks to have guidelines 
for corporate governance which accord 
with the norwegian code of practice in 
this area (see pages 54 and 55).

prospECts
Due to reduced orders and delayed pro-
duction starts for significant contracts 
the activity and turnover for 2005 were 
lower than planned. this combined with 
considerable restructuring of the nor-
wegian part of the business, resulted in 
the fact that the expectations of profit 
did not happen. 

noK 49.5 million in restructuring 
costs have been charged to the 2005 
accounts as a consequence of the 
approved merger of the group’s man-
ufacturing facilities in Arendal and the 
closure of its oslo plant. these meas-
ures will eliminate about 100 man-
years. the restructuring is expected to 
yield annual savings of roughly noK 
51 million from the second quarter of 
2006. in the board’s view, the present 
composition of Kitron’s norwegian busi-
ness in terms of resources, expertise 
and increased flexibility is tailored to the 
future market envisaged by the group. 
improvement opportunities in Kitron’s 
Swedish business will also be assessed.

on the basis of the extensive changes 
implemented by Kitron in 2005, the 
board takes a positive view of devel-
opments in 2006. Kitron will give prior-
ity during the latter year to profitability 
and to implementing the organisational 

changes already sanctioned so that 
identified cost savings are achieved and 
the basis thereby laid for future profit-
ability. 

the principal markets will remain 
norway and Sweden, and a continued 
commitment to lithuania is important 
in this context in order to be competi-
tive. further development of the Swed-
ish organisation is very important for the 
success of the aggressive commitment 
being made to this market. 

Kitron’s strategic sourcing function 
will be an increasingly important ele-
ment in the company’s competitive-
ness. 

experience shows that activity var-
ies between the various quarters. this 
trend is expected to continue in 2006. 
the board expects a profit for the year 
as a whole.  the board underlines how-
ever that the assessment of prospects 
are attached with uncertainty.

nEt loss and alloCations 
Kitron ASA made a net loss of noK 
5 601 000. the board proposes that 
this loss be covered through the trans-
fer of noK 5 601 000 from the share 
premium account. the company had no 
free equity at 31 December 2005. no 
dividend is proposed for 2005.
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(Amounts in noK 1 000) note 2005 (ifrs) 2004 (ifrS) 2004 (ngAAp) 2003 (ngAAp)

operating income
Sales revenues  6  1 576 �41  1 748 047  1 748 047  1 821 367 

operating costs 
Cost of goods sold  945 �42  1 062 104  1 062 104  1 112 010 
payroll expenses  8, 9  475 27�  528 185  518 103  501 097 
Depreciation and impairments  10, 11  �8 675  38 227  42 315  52 892 
other operating expenses  151 410  172 802  172 802  135 834 
total operating expenses  1 610 700  1 801 318  1 795 324  1 801 833 

operating profit/(loss)  (�4 �59)  (53 271)  (47 277) 19 534 

financial income and expenses
net financial items  21  (2� 854)  (18 529)  (18 529)  (28 776)

loss before tax  (58 21�)  (71 800)  (65 806)  (9 242)
tax  16  726  2 007  22 513  36 375 

net loss  (58 9�9)  (73 807)  (88 319)  (45 617)
 

allocation
Shareholders (58 9�9) (75 191) (89 703) (49 361)
Minority share - 1 384 1 384 3 744

earnings per share for that part of the net loss allocated to the company’s shareholders

(noK per share)
earnings per share (0.�9) (0.57) (0.68) (0.45)
Diluted earnings per share (0.�9) (0.57) (0.68) (0.45)

ConSoliDAteD profit 
AnD loSS ACCount
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(Amounts in noK 1 000) note 2005 2004

assEts

fixed assets
tangible fixed assets 10  112 447  120 561 
goodwill 11  18 489  20 586 
investment in shares 18  190  190 
Deferred tax assets 17  20 000  20 000 
other receivables 12  � 855  8 334 
total fixed assets  154 981  169 671 

current assets
inventory 7  242 542  246 394 
Accounts receivable and other 
receivables 12  141 771  164 654 
Cash and cash equivalents 23  11� 229  30 065 
total current assets  497 542  441 113 

total assets  652 52�  610 784

ConSoliDAteD 
BAlAnCe Sheet At 31 DeCeMBer

(Amounts in noK 1 000) note 2005 2004

liabilitiEs and Equity

equity 
equity allocated to shareholders
Share capital and share premium 
reserve 28  629 020  533 423
other equity unrecognised in profit 
and loss (� 204) (2 155)
retained earnings (474 698) (415 759)
Minority interests -  12 558 
total equity  151 118  128 067 

liaBilities
long-term liabilities
loans 14, 22  40 678  38 986 
pension commitments 9  14 904  31 532 
other provisions 15  15 104  13 822 
total long-term liabilities  70 686  84 340 

current liabilities
Accounts payable and other 
current liabilities 13  �50 577  367 722 
tax payable 16  �70  1 899 
loans 14, 22  46 �69  22 898 
other provisions 15  �� 40�  5 858 
total current liabilities  4�0 719  398 377 

total liabilities  501 405  482 717 

total liabilities and equity  652 52�  610 784

Kaunas, 28 March 2006

nerijus Dagilis
Chair

Arne Solberg
Deputy chair

Kjell e. Almskog
Director

titas Sereika
Director

per-erik Mohlin
Director

liv Johansen
Director

preben Jensen
Director

Jan t. Jørgensen
president and Ceo
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ChAngeS in 
ConSoliDAteD eQuity 

Allocated to shareholders
Minority 
interests

total

(Amounts in noK 1 000)

Share capital 
and share pre-
mium reserve

other equity 
unrecognised in 

profit and loss
retained 
earnings

equity at 1 January 2004 479 484 - (342 533) 10 087 147 0�8

Conversion differences - (2 155) - (423) (2 578)
net loss - - (75 191) 1 384 (7� 807)
equity provided through employee options 15 205 - - - 15 205
new shares issued 40 000 - - 4 614 44 614
issue costs (1 266) - - - (1 266)
Change in minority interests - - 1 965 (3 104) (1 1�9)

equity at 31 December 2004 533 423 (2 155) (415 759) 12 558 128 067

equity at 1 January 2005 533 423 (2 155) (415 759) 12 558 128 067

Conversion differences - (1 049) - - (1 049)
net loss - - (58 939) - (58 9�9)
equity provided through employee options 4 837 - - - 4 8�7
new shares issued 95 240 - - - 95 240
issue costs (4 480) - - - (4 480)
Change in minority interests - - - (12 558) (12 558)
equity at 31 December 2005 629 020 (3 204) (474 698) - 151 118

18



(Amounts in noK 1 000) note 2005 2004

cash flow from operational activities
Cash flow from operations 29 22 �76 (18 007)
interest (1� 009) (13 869)
taxes - (569)
net cash flow from operational activities 9 �67 (32 445

cash flow from investment activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries 5 (11 0�0) (8 702)
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets 10 (28 465) (21 266)
Disposal of tangible fixed assets 10 - 6 250
net cash flow from investment activities (�9 495) (23 718)

cash flow from financing activities
proceeds from issuing ordinary shares 90 760 42 855
proceeds from new loans 6 59� 7 280
repayment of loans (4 �42) (24 551)
payment to minority interests (1 0�0) -
net cash flow from financing activities 91 981 25 584

Change in cash and bank credit 61 85� (30 579)
Cash and bank credit at 1 January (9 046) 21 534
Cash and bank credit at 31 December 23 52 807 (9 046)

 

ConSoliDAteD 
CASh floW StAteMent
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basiC prinCiplEs
in connection with the conversion to the inter-
national financial reporting Standards (ifrS), 
Kitron is reporting its consolidated accounts 
from 2005 in accordance with the ifrS. the 
annual accounts for 2004 were accordingly 
the last to be based on norwegian generally 
accepted accounting principles (ngAAp). the 
annual accounts for 2005 present comparative 
figures for 2004 which have been restated in 
accordance with the ifrS. the profit and loss 
account also shows comparable figures for 
2004 and 2003 prepared in accordance with 
ngAAp. information required by ifrS 1 and 
the oslo Stock exchange is presented in note 
30.

the consolidated accounts have been pre-
pared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention.

preparing the accounts in accordance with 
the ifrS requires the use of estimates. Appli-
cation of the company’s accounting principles 
also means that the management must exer-
cise discretion. Areas where such discretionary 
assessments have been made to a particular 
extent or which have a high degree of com-
plexity, or where assumption and estimates are 
significant for the consolidated accounts, are 
described in note 4.

standards, interpretation and changes in 
existing standards which had not come into 
effect at �1 december 2005
Certain new standards, changes and interpre-
tations of existing standards have been pub-
lished and will be obligatory for the group in 
2006 or later. Standards, changes and interpre-
tations of existing standards which could have 

been relevant for the consolidated accounts 
in 2005 have been assessed but not adopted. 
these are:

iAS 19 (Amendment) employee benefits 
(in force 1 January 2006)
ifrS 7 financial instruments; disclosures, 
and a supplementary change in iAS 1, 
presentation of financial statements –  
capital disclosures (in force 1 January 
2007) 
ifriC 4, determining whether an arrange-
ment contains a lease (in force 1 January 
2006)

Consolidation prinCiplEs
subsidiaries
the consolidated accounts include the parent 
company, Kitron ASA, and all its subsidiaries. 
Subsidiaries are all units in which the group has 
a controlling influence on the unit’s financial 
and operational strategy, normally through 
owning more than half the voting capital. 
When determining whether a controlling influ-
ence exists, the effect of potential voting rights 
which can be exercised or converted on the 
balance sheet date are taken into account. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the time 
when control transfers to the group, and de-
consolidated when the control ceases. 

the purchase method is used to consoli-
date acquired subsidiaries. the acquisition 
cost at the transaction date is attributed to the 
fair value of assets provided as consideration 
for the acquisition, equity instruments issued, 
liabilities incurred through the transfer of con-
trol and direct transaction costs. identifiable 

■

■

■

assets and debt acquired are recognised at 
their fair value at the transaction date, regard-
less of possible minority interests. transaction 
costs which exceed the fair value of identifiable 
net assets in the subsidiary are carried as good-
will. if the transaction costs are lower than the 
fair value of identifiable net assets in the sub-
sidiary, the difference is recognised in the profit 
and loss account at the acquisition date.

intra-group transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains are eliminated. unrealised 
losses are eliminated, but are assessed as an 
indicator of impairment loss on the transferred 
asset. the accounting principles for subsidi-
aries have been amended to accord with the 
group’s principles.

transactions and minority interests
transactions with minority interests are treated 
as transactions with third parties. When shares 
in subsidiaries are sold to minority interests, the 
group’s gain or loss is recognised in the profit 
and loss account. When shares in subsidiaries 
are acquired from minority interests, goodwill 
will arise. this goodwill will be the difference 
between the consideration and the acquired 
share of the book equity in the subsidiary.

associated companies
the group has no joint ventures or associated 
companies.

sEgmEnt rEporting
A business area is part of the business which 
delivers products or services exposed to risks 
and returns which differ from those of other 
business areas. A geographical market is part 
of the business which delivers products and 

noteS to the 
ConSoliDAteD ACCountS

note 1 general information

Kitron ASA and its subsidiaries (the group) comprise one of Scandinavia’s leading enterprises in the development, industrialisation and 
manufacturing of electronics for the data/telecom, defence/marine, medical equipment and industry segments. the group has operations in 
norway, Sweden and lithuania. Kitron ASA has its head office at lysaker outside oslo in norway and is listed on the oslo Stock exchange. 
the consolidated accounts were considered and approved by the company’s board of directors on 28 March 2006.

note 2 summary of the most significant accounting principles

the most significant accounting principles applied in the preparation of the consolidated accounts are detailed below. these principles have 
been applied uniformly in all the periods unless otherwise stated.
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services within a defined geographical area 
which is subject to risks and returns which dif-
fer from those in other geographical areas.

translation of forEign 
CurrEnCiEs
functional and presentation currencies
the accounts of the individual units are com-
piled in the principal currency used in the 
economic area in which the unit operates 
(the functional currency). the consolidated 
accounts are presented in noK, which is both 
the functional and the presentation currency 
for the parent company.

transaction and balance sheet items
transactions in foreign currency are translated 
to the functional currency at the exchange 
rate prevailing at the transaction date. Cur-
rency gains and losses which arise from the 
settlement of such transactions, and when 
translating monetary items (assets and liabili-
ties) in foreign currencies at 31 December at 
the exchange rate on the balance sheet date, 
are recognised in the profit and loss account.

group companies
the profit and loss accounts and balance 
sheets for group units (none of which are 
affected by hyperinflation) in functional cur-
rencies which differ from the presentation cur-
rency are translated as follows:

the balance sheet is translated at the clos-
ing exchange rate on the balance sheet 
date
the profit and loss account is translated at 
the average exchange rate
translation differences are recognised 
directly in equity and specified separately.

tangiblE fixEd assEts
tangible fixed assets primarily embrace build-
ings and land, machinery, equipment, and 
fixtures and fittings. they also include leased 
buildings, machinery and equipment where the 
lease is considered to be a financing method 
(financial leasing). tangible fixed assets are 
stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairments. they are rec-
ognised in the balance sheet and depreciated 
on a straight-line basis to their residual value 
over their expected useful life, which is:

Buildings   20-33 years
Machinery and  
operating equipment      3-10 years

land is not depreciated.
the useful life of fixed assets and their 

residual value are reassessed on every balance 
sheet date and amended if necessary. When 
the carrying amount of a fixed asset is higher 
than the estimated recoverable amount, 
the value is written down to the recoverable 
amount.

on-going maintenance of fixed assets is 
charged as an operating cost, which upgrad-
ing or improvements are added to the histori-
cal cost of the asset and depreciated accord-
ingly.

gain and loss on disposals is recognised 
in the profit and loss account as the differ-
ence between the sales price and the carrying 
amount.

■

■

■

goodwill
goodwill is the difference between the acqui-
sition of a business and the fair value of the 
group’s share of net identifiable assets in the 
business at the acquisition date. goodwill is 
tested annually for impairment and recognised 
in the balance sheet at its acquisition cost less 
impairment charges. impairment losses on 
goodwill are not reversed.

When assessing the need to make an 
impairment charge on goodwill, the goodwill 
is allocated to relevant cash-generating units. 
the allocation is made to those cash-gener-
ating units or groups of such units which are 
expected to benefit from the acquisition. the 
group allocates goodwill to each business area 
in each country in which it operates.

impairment of non-financial assets  
(other than goodwill)
Assets considered to have an indefinite useful 
life and which are not depreciated are tested 
annually for possible impairment. fixed assets 
subject to depreciation are tested for impair-
ment when conditions arise which indicate a 
fall in value. An impairment charge if recog-
nised in the profit and loss account as the dif-
ference between the carrying amount and the 
recoverable amount. the recoverable amount 
is the utility value.

When assessing impairment, fixed assets 
are grouped at the lowest level for which iden-
tifiable independent cash inflows exist (cash-
generating units). At each reporting date, an 
assessment is made of the opportunity for 
reversing earlier impairment charges on fixed 
assets.

finanCial assEts
the group classifies financial assets in the 
following categories based on the reason for 
acquiring the asset: loans and receivables and 
investment in shares. the management reas-
sess this classification of financial assets at 
each reporting date.

investment in shares
investment in shares is recognised at fair 
value. Since the group’s investment in shares 
for 2004 and 2005 consists solely of holdings 
in small companies which are not traded in an 
effective market, these holdings are recog-
nised at historical cost.

loans and receivables
loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed payments which are 
not traded in an active market. they are classi-
fied as current assets unless they mature more 
than 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
When maturing more than 12 months after the 
balance sheet date, loans and receivables are 
classified as fixed assets. loans and receiva-
bles are classified as accounts receivable and 
other receivables in the balance sheet.

invEntory
inventory comprises purchased raw materi-
als, work in progress and finished goods. it is 
stated at the lower of average acquisition cost 
and fair value (net realisable value). Acquisi-
tion cost for work in progress are direct mate-
rial costs and payroll expenses plus indirect 
costs (based on normal capacity).

aCCounts rECEivablE 
Accounts receivable are recognised initially 
in the balance sheet at their fair value. pro-
vision for bad debts is recognised in the 
accounts when objective indicators suggest 
that the group will not receive a settlement in 
accordance with the original terms. Significant 
financial problems at the customer, the prob-
ability that the customer will go into liquida-
tion or undergo financial reconstruction, and 
postponements of or shortfalls in payment are 
regarded as indicators that a receivable needs 
to be written down. the provision represents 
the difference between the face value and 
the recoverable amount, which is the present 
value of expected cash flows discounted by 
the effective interest rate. Changes in the 
provision are recognised in the profit and loss 
account as other operating expenses.

A significant proportion of accounts are 
credit-hedged as part of the company’s fac-
toring arrangement. hedged accounts receiv-
able are removed from the balance sheet 
when a settlement is received from the fac-
toring company (normally after three work-
ing days). unhedged accounts receivable are 
removed from the balance sheet when a set-
tlement is received by the factoring company 
from the customer.

Cash and Cash EquivalEnts
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, 
deposits in ordinary bank accounts and 
undrawn overdraft facilities. Amounts drawn 
on overdraft facilities are included in loans 
under current liabilities.

sharE Capital
the share capital comprises the number of 
shares multiplied by their nominal value, and 
are classified as equity. expenses which can be 
attributed directly to the issue of new shares or 
options (less tax) are recognised in equity as a 
reduction in the proceeds received.

loans
loans are recognised at their nominal amount 
when the loan is established. instalments fall-
ing due within one year of the balance sheet 
date are classified as current liabilities. instal-
ments falling due more than one year after the 
balance sheet date are classified as long-term 
liabilities.

dEfErrEd tax
Deferred tax is calculated using the liability 
method on all temporary differences aris-
ing between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated accounts. if, however, deferred 
tax arises when initially recognising a liabil-
ity or asset in a transaction which is not the 
integration of a business and which at the 
transaction date has no effect on the profit 
and loss account or on tax, it is not recog-
nised. Deferred tax is determined using tax 
rates and laws which have been substantially 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred 
income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available, and that the temporary 
differences can be deducted from this profit. 
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Deferred tax is calculated on temporary dif-
ferences arising on investments in subsidiar-
ies, except where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences is controlled by the 
group and it is probable that they will not be 
reversed in the foreseeable future.

pEnsion CommitmEnts, 
bonus sChEmEs and othEr 
CompEnsation for EmployEEs
pension commitments
group companies have various pension 
schemes. these schemes are generally 
funded through payments to insurance 
companies or pension funds on the basis of 
periodic actuarial calculations. the group 
has both defined contribution and defined 
benefit plans. A defined contribution plan is 
one under which the group pays fixed contri-
butions to a separate legal entity. the group 
has no legal or constructive obligations to 
pay further contributions if the fund does not 
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the 
benefits relating to employee service in the 
current and prior periods.

A defined benefit plan is one which is not a 
defined contribution plan, and typically defines 
an amount of pension benefit an employee will 
receive on retirement. that benefit is normally 
dependent on one or more factors such as age, 
years of service and pay. 

the liability recognised in the balance sheet 
in respect of defined benefit pension plans is 
the present value of the defined benefit obli-
gation at the balance sheet date less the fair 
value of plan assets, adjusted for unrecognised 
actuarial gains or losses. the pension commit-
ment is calculated annually by an independent 
actuary using a straight-line earnings method. 
the present value of the defined benefit obli-
gations is determined by discounting the esti-
mated future cash outflows using interest rates 
corresponding to a 10-year norwegian govern-
ment bond extended in duration to provide a 
term to maturity approximating to the terms of 
the related pension liability. estimated payroll 
tax on the net pension commitment calculated 
by an actuary is added to the carrying amount 
of the obligation.

Changes in pension plan benefits are rec-
ognised immediately in the profit and loss 
account unless rights in the new pension plan 
are conditional on the employee remaining in 
service for a specific period of time (the vest-
ing period). in that case, the costs associated 

with the change in benefit are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period.

Changes to estimates arising from new 
information or changes to actuarial assump-
tions are recognised in the profit and loss 
account over a period corresponding to the 
expected average remaining working lives of 
the employees.

for defined contribution plans, the group 
pays contribution to publicly- or privately-
administered pension insurance plans on an 
obligatory, contractual or voluntary basis. the 
group has no further payment obligations once 
the contributions have been paid. the contri-
butions are recognised as a payroll expense 
when they fall due. prepaid contributions are 
recognised as an asset to the extent that a 
cash refund or a reduction in the future pay-
ments is available.

share-based compensation
the fair value of share options granted is 
assessed at the granting date and expensed 
over the period from the granting date to the 
exercise date. the cost also includes payroll 
tax.

bonus schemes
Certain senior executives have bonus agree-
ments related to the attainment of specified 
targets for the business (budgets and activi-
ties). obligations (provisions) and costs (pay) 
are recognised for bonuses in accordance with 
the company’s contractual obligations.

severance pay
Severance pay is given when the contract 
of employment is terminated by the group 
before the normal age of retirement or when 
an employee voluntarily agrees to leave in 
return for such a payment. the group recog-
nises severance pay in the accounts when it is 
demonstrably obliged either to terminate the 
contract of employment for existing employ-
ees in accordance with a formal, detailed plan 
which the group cannot rescind, or to make a 
payment as a consequence of an offer made 
to encourage voluntary resignations. Sever-
ance pay which falls due more than 12 months 
after the balance sheet date is discounted to 
present value.

provisions
the group makes provisions when a legal or 
constructive obligation exists as a result of 

past events, it is more likely than not that an 
transfer of financial resources will be required 
to settle the obligation, and the amount of the 
obligation can be estimated with a sufficient 
degree of reliability. provisions relate primarily 
to restructuring costs. obligations falling due 
more than 12 months after the balance sheet 
date is discounted to present value.

rEvEnuE rECognition
revenue from the sale of goods and services 
is recognised at fair value, net of VAt, returns, 
discounts and rejects.

sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised in the profit and 
loss account when a unit within the group has 
delivered its products to the customer and the 
customer has accepted the product.

sales of services
Sales of services embrace development assign-
ments and services related to industryalisation. 
Service deliveries are partly project-based and 
partly hourly-based. Sales of project-based 
services are recognised in the period in which 
the services are rendered, based on the degree 
of completion of the relevant project. the 
degree of completion is determined by meas-
uring the services provided as a proportion of 
the total services to be rendered. hourly-based 
services are recognised in the period when the 
service is rendered.

interest income
interest on bank deposits is recognised in the 
period when it is earned.

lEasing
leases where a significant portion of the risks 
associated with the fixed asset are retained by 
the lessor are classified as operating leasing. 
payments made under operating leases are 
recognised in the profit and loss account on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

dividEnd paymEnts
possible dividend payments to the company’s 
shareholders are recognised as a liability in 
the group’s financial statements in the period 
when the dividend is approved by the general 
meeting.

note � financial risk

the company is exposed through its business 
to a number of financial risks. its corporate 
routines for risk management focus on the 
unpredictability of the financial markets, and 
endeavour to minimise potential negative 
effects arising from the company’s financial 
dispositions.

markEt risk
currency risk: the group is exposed to 
changes in foreign exchange rates because 
raw materials are sourced in foreign curren-
cies and because a proportion of its goods 
and services are sold in such currencies. to 

reduce the currency risk relating to procure-
ment, the company’s standard contracts 
with its customers include currency clauses 
which allow the company to adjust its sales 
price when the actual exchange rate for raw 
material purchases differs significantly from 
the agreed base rate. the group has not 
established other significant currency hedge 
arrangements over and above its standard 
contracts with customers. 

price risk: the company is exposed to price 
risk both because raw materials follow inter-
national market prices for electronic and 

mechanical components and because the 
company’s goods and services are subject to 
price pressures. routines have been estab-
lished for procurement by the company’s 
own sourcing organisation, which negotiates 
group contracts. this centralisation of the 
sourcing function allows Kitron to achieve 
improved material prices

CrEdit risk
the bulk of the group’s customers are credit-
hedged as part of the company’s factoring 
agreement. Kitron accordingly bears credit 
risk only for customers who are not hedged 
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note 4 important accounting estimates and discretionary assessments

estimates and discretionary assessments are 
based on historical experience and other fac-
tors, including expectations of future events 
which are considered to be likely under 
present conditions.

important aCCounting 
EstimatEs and assumptions
the group prepares estimates and makes 
assumptions about the future. Accounting 
estimates derived from these will by definition 
seldom accord fully with the final outcome. 
estimates and assumptions which represent 
a substantial risk for significant changes in 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
during the coming fiscal year are discussed 
below.

Estimated value of goodwill
the group performs annual tests to assess 
the fall in value of goodwill and tangible fixed 
assets. the recoverable amount from cash-
generating units is determined on the basis 
of present-value calculations of expected 
annual cash flows. these calculations 
require the use of estimates for cash flows 
and the choice of discount rate before tax 
for discounting the cash flows. A 10 per cent 
reduction in the estimated contribution mar-
gin or increase in the discount rate before tax 
for discounting cash flows would not have 
generated an additional impairment charge 
for goodwill.

deferred tax assets
the group performs annual tests for impair-
ment of deferred tax assets. part of the basis 
for recognising deferred tax assets is based 
on applying the loss carried forward against 
future taxable income in the group. this 
requires the use of estimates for calculating 
future taxable income. A 10 per cent reduc-
tion in future taxable income in the group 
would not have generated an additional 
impairment charge for goodwill.

through the factoring agreement. the com-
pany has routines to ensure that sales on 
credit are made only to creditworthy custom-
ers.

liquidity risk
Kitron’s financing is primarily short-term. 
and based on factoring finance for accounts 
receivable. this means that fluctuations in 
turnover affect the company’s liquidity. in 

addition, drawing facilities have been estab-
lished in banks which counteract the liquidity 
fluctuations related to turnover.

intErEst ratE risk
interest on the group’s interest-bearing debt 
is charged at the relevant market rate prevail-
ing at any given time (three months norwe-
gian interbank offered rate – nibor – plus the 
agreed interest margin). external financing 

for the group’s operational companies takes 
place in the functional currency. no inter-
est rate instruments have been established 
in the group. the company does not have 
significant interest-bearing assets, so that its 
income and cash flow from operational activi-
ties are not significantly exposed to changes 
in the market interest rate.

note 5 acquisition of minority

Kitron exercised its option in December 2005 to buy the remaining 33.4 per cent of the shares in uAB Kitron for noK 11.0 million. the mi-
nority’s share of equity at the acquisition date was noK 12.0 million. the transaction led to the recognition of noK 1.0 million in income, 
so that the group’s equity was reduced by noK 11.0 million through the transaction. the transaction did not lead to any change in the 
carrying amount of goodwill.

note 6 sales reVenues and Business areas

Kitron provides goods and services within development, industrialisation and manufacturing for the electronics sector in various geographi-
cal areas and different market segments.

primary reporting format – business areas
the group’s business is grouped in two main areas: electronic manufacturing services (eMS) and Kitron Microelectronics (KM). for a more 
detailed description of these individual business areas, see the presentation in the directors’ report.

Breakdown by business areas:
    

 electronic Manufacturing Services  Kitron Microelectronics other and eliminations

(Amounts in 
noK 1 000) 2005 2004 2003* 2005 2004 2003* 2005 2004 2003*

Sales revenues  1 410 048  1 597 163  1 727 758  195 464  190 896  130 694  (29 171)  (40 012)  (37 085)
other operating costs  1 415 006  1 595 525  1 648 351  182 246  185 737  131 093  (25 227)  (18 171)  (30 503)
Depreciation/impair-
ment  �0 �4�  32 093  44 942  4 089  3 179  4 295  4 24�  2 955  3 655 
operating profit/(loss)  (�5 �01)  (30 455)  34 465  9 129  1 981  (4 694)  (8 187)  (24 797)  (10 237)
Assets  569 004  622 105  700 313  89 69�  82 480  83 743  (6 174)  (93 801)  (49 127)
liabilities  464 ��7  470 321  514 499  74 �82  66 397  63 937 (�7 �14)  (54 001)  (94 978)
investment  17 78�  16 987  24 310  12 156  2 352  1 868  745  4 151  4 096 

Assets and liabilities are the carrying amounts in the accounts of the companies included in the business areas. transactions and balances 
within each business area are eliminated.
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sales by market segment:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004 2003*

Data /telecom  422 �61  489 461  567 517 
Defence/marine  450 �15  524 094  586 650 
Medical equipment  �44 410  364 218  308 356 
industry  �59 255  370 274  358 844 
total sales revenues  1 576 �41  1 748 047  1 821 367 

 

secondary reporting format – geographical area

geographical breakdown of sales revenues:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004 2003*

norway 819 015  1 043 223  1 287 887 
Sweden 624 157  553 405  421 319 
rest of europe 56 702  55 502  31 675 
uSA 14 544  9 991  11 743 
other 61 92�  85 926  68 743 
total  1 576 �41  1 748 047  1 821 367 

geographical breakdown of assets and investments:

norway Sweden lithuania

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004 2003* 2005 2004 2003* 2005 2004 2003*

Assets 440 910 396 484 607 582 156 956 151 091 130 768 69 ��0 65 486 57 087
investments 27 28� 12 065 15 738 1 650 2 915 1 727 1 751 8 510 12 809

* 2003 figures in accordance with ngAAp.

note 7 inVentory

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

raw materials and purchased semi-manufactures  172 244  173 104 
Work in progress  52 �24  72 076 
finished goods  17 974  1 214 
total inventory  242 542  246 394

the total impairment charge recognised in the profit and loss account for the year is noK 11.7 million (2004: noK 9.6 million). inventory at 
31 December 2005 provided security for noK 195.3 million in mortgage debt (2004: noK 216.1 million). See note 22.

note 8 payroll costs

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

pay  �58 69�  396 751 
payroll tax  71 �16  78 736 
net pension costs defined benefit plans (note 9)  9 ��6  11 645 
pension costs defined contribution plans  8 849  8 866 
options  4 8�7  15 200 
other remuneration  22 242  16 987 
total  475 27�  528 185 

Average number of employees  1 �07  1 356
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note 9 pensions and related oBligations

employees in Kitron’s norwegian companies are covered by pension plans which give the right to defined future benefits. until 31 Decem-
ber 2005, all employees in Kitron’s norwegian companies were covered by funded defined benefit plans (with life insurance companies). 
At 31 December 2005, the funded plans were discontinued and replaced with a contribution-based pension scheme. the norwegian plans 
embrace 682 employees.

employees in Kitron’s norwegian companies are also covered by unfunded defined benefit plans (Afp early retirement scheme). the 
company’s chief executive is covered by his own unfunded defined benefit plan. employees in Kitron’s Swedish companies are covered by 
contribution-based pension plans.

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

carrying amount of the obligation:
pension benefits 14 904 31 532

costs recognised in profit and loss account (incl in note 8)
pension benefits 9 ��6 11 645

pension Benefits
carrying amount of the obligation is determined as follows:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

present value of accrued commitments in funded defined benefit plans - (106 615)
fair value of pension fund assets - 81 045
unrecognised variances from estimates - 10 011
Accrued payroll tax - (2 055)
net commitments in funded defined benefit plans - (17 614)

present value of accrued commitments in unfunded defined benefit plans (15 �6�) (11 512)
unrecognised variances from estimates 2 625 (686)
Accrued payroll tax (2 166) (1 720)
net commitments in unfunded defined benefit plans (14 904) (13 918)

 
net pension commitment in the balance sheet (14 904) (31 532)

net pension costs comprise:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

present value of pension earnings for the year 1 149 9 582
interest cost 667 7 496
expected return on pension fund assets - (6 555)
recognised changes in/variances from estimates (1 064) (305)
payroll taxes 252 1 427
Costs associated with terminated funded insured benefits* 8 ��2 -
total, included in payroll costs (note 8) 9 ��6 11 645

* Costs associated with terminated funded insured benefits comprise recognised commitments, premium paid for the year, premium for technical insurance 
underfunding and administrative reserve.

change in carrying amount of pension commitments:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

opening balance �1 5�2 40 881
Costs recognised in profit and loss account for the year 9 ��6 11 645
pension premium paid (25 964) (20 994)
Closing balance 14 904 31 532
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the following assumptions have been applied in calculating pension commitments:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Discount rate 4.�% 5.5%
expected return on pension funds 5.�% 6.0%
Annual pay adjustment 2.9% 2.5%
Annual pension adjustment 2.4% 2.0%

Assumptions on mortality rates are based on published statistics in norway (K63).

note 10 tangiBle fixed assets and depreciation

 

(Amounts in noK 1 000)
Machinery and 

equipment
Buildings 
and land total

at 1 January 2004
Acquisition cost 478 320 68 069 546 �89
Accumulated depreciation/impairment 390 270 19 174 409 444
Accounting carrying amount 88 050 48 895 1�6 945

fiscal 2004
opening balance 88 050 48 895 1�6 945
Conversion difference (248) (521) (769)

Additions 24 910 386 25 296
Disposals - 4 419 4 419
Depreciation 33 522 2 970 �6 492
Closing balance 79 190 41 371 120 561

at �1 december 2004
Acquisition cost 490 656 63 385 554 041
Accumulated depreciation/impairment 411 466 22 014 4�� 480
Accounting carrying amount 79 190 41 371 120 561

fiscal 2005
opening balance 79 190 41 371 120 561
Conversion difference (761) (565) (1 �26)
Additions 28 721 1 963 �0 684
Disposals (894) - (894)
Depreciation (27 913) (2 865) (�0 778)
impairment - (5 800) (5 800)
Closing balance 78 343 34 104 112 447

at �1 december 2005
Acquisition cost 517 722 64 783 582 505
Accumulated depreciation/impairment (439 379) (30 679) (470 058)
Accounting carrying amount 78 343 34 104 112 447

Accounting carrying amount includes the carrying amount of fixed assets which are treated for accounting purposes as financial leasing. 
See note 24.

Machinery, equipment, buildings and land were provided at 31 December as security for mortgage loans of noK 62.7 million and noK 
34.1 million respectively (2004: noK 57.9 million and noK 41.4 million). See note 22.

in connection with the restructuring of the norwegian eMS business, the company’s factory in Kilsund was written down by noK 5.8 million 
in 2005. this write-down was made because the company’s activity in Kilsund is being moved to and merged with the business at hisøy. 
See note 15.
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note 11 goodwill

(Amounts in noK 1 000) goodwill

at 1 January 2004
Acquisition cost 17 827
Accumulated impairment charge -
Accounting carrying amount 17 827

fiscal 2004
opening balance 17 827
Additions 4 494
Depreciation 1 735
Closing balance 20 586

at �1 december 2004
Acquisition cost 22 321
Accumulated impairment charge 1 735
Accounting carrying amount 20 586

fiscal 2005
opening balance 20 586
Depreciation 2 097
Closing balance 18 489

at �1 december 2005
Acquisition cost 22 321
Accumulated impairment charge 3 832
Accounting carrying amount 18 489

the company’s cash-generating units are identified for the electronic manufacturing services (eMS) and Kitron Microelectronics (KM) busi-
ness areas, and by country.

allocation of carrying amount of goodwill by business area and by country:

2005 2004 

(Amounts in noK 1 000)  ems km  eMS KM

norway 702 1 195 2 799 1 195
Sweden 2 921 2 921
lithuania 1� 671 13 671
total 17 294 1 195 19 391 1 195

the recoverable amount for a cash-generating unit is based on a calculation of utility value.

the cash flow assumption is based on financial budgets approved by the company’s management. these calculation is based on growth 
assumptions which correspond with industry expectations of growth in the eMS market in coming years (7.5 per cent annually). the calcu-
lations are based on cash flows for the next five years and a discount rate of 15 per cent.

impairment charges in 2004 related to corporate goodwill associated with the norwegian share of Kitron Development. Kitron Development 
was merged in 2005 with Kitron AS. Additions in 2004 related to the acquisition of Kitron flen AB and regulation of the purchase price for 
uAB Kitron.

impairment charges in 2005 resulted from one of the company’s customers moving its production to Asia.
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note 12 accounts receiVaBle and other receiVaBles

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Accounts receivable 96 417 118 819
provision for bad debts (6 000) (4 000)
Accounts receivable – net 90 417 114 819
receivable from related parties (note 19) - 16 000
earned, non-invoiced income 20 421 5 690
pre-paid costs 16 570 15 980
other receivables 18 218 20 499
total 145 626 172 988

Deducted long-term items � 855 8 334
Current items 141 771 164 654

long-term receivables are non-interest-bearing long-term receivables. All long-term receivables fall due within five years from the balance 
sheet date.

fair value of accounts receivable and other receivables:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Accounts receivable - net 90 417 114 819
receivable from related parties (note 19) - 16 000
earned, non-invoiced income 20 421 5 690
pre-paid costs 16 570 15 980
other receivables 17 919 19 627
total 145 �27 172 116

the discount rate for calculating fair value of long-term items in 4.5 per cent (2004: 5.5 per cent). for current receivables, the carrying 
amount is virtually identical with the fair value.

credit risk
no special concentration of accounts receivable exists which poses an abnormal credit risk. Accounts receivable and other receivables at 
31 December 2005 provided security for noK 145.6 million in mortgage debt (2004: noK 173 million). See note 22.

note 1� accounts payaBle and other current liaBilities

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Accounts payable 2�0 �17 223 287
public duties 25 751 39 425
payable to related parties (note 19) 1 �71 6 687
Costs incurred 9� 1�8 98 323
total �50 577 367 722

note 14 loans

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

long-term loans
Bank loans 11 852 16 194
other loans 28 826 22 792
total 40 678 38 986

current loans
overdraft facilities �1 9�1 9 111
Bank loans 5 17� 8 211
other loans 9 265 5 576
total 46 �69 22 898

total loans 87 047 61 884

other loans primarily involve leasing liabilities (see note 24) and factoring debt.
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periods to maturity of long-term loans:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Between 1 and 2 years 12 715 9 766
Between 2 and 5 years 15 684 17 341
More than 5 years 12 279 11 879
total 40 678 38 986

effective interest rate at the balance sheet date:

2005 2004

nok other noK other

overdraft facilities 4.25% 4.0-11% 3.75% 4.0-9.0%
Bank loans 4.�% 5.4-6.5% 3.8-5.0% 5.0-6.5%
other loans 4.0% 6.2% 4.8 % 6.2%

carrying amount and fair value of long-term loans:

Carrying amount fair value

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004 2005 2004

long-term bank loans 11 852 16 194 10 7�� 14 044
other loans 28 826 22 792 25 147 18 291
total 40 678 38 986 �5 880 32 335

fair value is based on discounted cash flow with a discount rate of 4.5 per cent (2004: 5.5 per cent). the carrying amount of current loans is 
virtually identical with fair value.

carrying amount of the group’s loans in various currencies:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

noK 41 620 23 563
SeK 19 281 12 065
ltl 10 909 11 631
euro 15 2�7 -
uSD - 14 625
total 87 047 61 884

the company’s financing agreements include covenants relating to such factors as the company’s equity and earnings. Due to restructuring 
costs (see note 15) and acquisition of minority in uAB Kitron (see note 5) the company did not comply with these covenants at 31 Decem-
ber 2005. however, through a dialogue with the banks in the subsequent period waivers were issued. the conditions for the loans were 
renegotiated and the company was in compliance with covenants at the date when the accounts were presented. loans include  
noK 80 million (2004: noK 61.9 million) in secured commitments (bank loans and other secured loans). See note 22.

note 15 proVisions

(Amounts in noK 1 000) restructuring

At 1 January 2005 19 680
recognised in consolidated profit and loss account -
provisions for the year 43 700
reversal of unused provisions from earlier periods -
used during the year (14 873)
At 31 December 2005 48 507

classification in the balance sheet:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

long-term liabilities 15 104 13 822
Current liabilities �� 40� 5 858
total 48 507 19 680

it was resolved in the third quarter of 2005 to reduce capacity in the norwegian business. the norwegian eMS business has comprised 
manufacturing activities in Kilsund, hisøy and oslo. the Kilsund activity is being moved to and merged with the business at hisøy. the 
manufacturing unit in oslo is being closed down, and its production transferred to other units – including the company’s facility in lithua-
nia. noK 49.5 million relating to the move has been charged to the profit and loss account for 2005, including noK 5.8 million as an 
impairment charge on buildings. the transfer process is due to be completed during the second quarter of 2006.
total provisions at 31 December 2005 came to noK 48.5 million. in addition to the provision of noK 43.7 million for the year, which relates 
to the transfer of production and downsizing at plants in norway as well as leasing costs, outstanding provisions relate to restructuring 
measures in earlier periods.
the amount used during the year is in line with plans and accords with the restructuring provisions made in earlier periods.

29



note 16 tax

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

tax payable 726 2 007
Deferred tax (note 17) - -
total 726 2 007

tax on the group’s pre-tax result varies from the amount which would have arisen if the group’s weighted average tax rate had been 
applied.

the difference is explained as follows:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

ordinary loss before tax (58 21�) (71 800)
tax calculated at the various national rates (16 540) (21 630)
issue costs, unrecognised (1 254) (493)
non-tax-deductible expenses 819 182
Application of tax loss carried forward - -
tax loss unrecognised as tax asset 17 701 23 948
tax cost 726 2 007

the average tax rate was 28 per cent (2004: 30 per cent). this change reflects the change in mutual profitability in the group’s subsidiaries 
in the respective countries.

note 17 deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised net when the group has a legal right to net deferred tax assets against deferred tax in the balance sheet and if 
the deferred tax is payable to the same tax authority. the following amounts have been netted:

deferred tax benefit:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Deferred tax asset which reverses in more than 12 months 20 000 20 000
Deferred tax asset which reverses in less than 12 months - -
total 20 000 20 000

change in carrying amount of deferred tax asset:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

opening balance 20 000 20 000
Conversion differences - -
profit and loss account - -
tax recognised against equity - -
Closing balance 20 000 20 000

Changes in deferred tax assets and deferred tax (with netting in same tax regime)

deferred tax:

(Amounts in noK 1 000)
gain and loss 

account  
financial 

leasing total

At 1 January 2004 1 739 - 1 7�9
loss for the period (348) - (�48)
Conversion differences - - -
At 31 December 2004 1 391 - 1 �91
loss for the period (278) 106 (172)
Conversion differences - - -
At 31 December 2005 1 113 106 1 219
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deferred tax assets:

(Amounts in noK 1 000)
provision and 
current assets

fixed assets 
and goodwill 

loss carried 
forward pension total

At 1 January 2004 10 410 470 - 10 859 21 7�9
recognised in profit and loss account for the period (1 244) 2 896 - (2 030) (�78)
Conversion differences 23 7 - - �0
At 31 December 2004 9 189 3 373 - 8 829 21 �91
recognised in profit and loss account for the period (5 021) (856) 10 394 (4 656) (1�9)
Conversion differences (28) (5) - - (��)
At 31 December 2005 4 140 2 512 10 394 4 173 21 219

Deferred tax assets related to tax loss carried forward is recognised in the balance sheet to the extent that it is probable that the group can 
apply this against future taxable profit. the group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of noK 110 404 000 (2004: noK 116 689 000) 
related to a tax loss carried forward of noK 431 420 000 (2004: noK 416 746 000). there are no restrictions on the right to carry the tax 
loss forward.

note 18 inVestment in other companies

investment in shares:

group Business office Shareholding Voting share
Acquisition 

cost Book value

company’s name
let`s train AS notodden 20% 20% 150 150
iuC AB Jönköping 3% 3% 4 4
elektronikcentrum i Karlskoga AB Karlskoga 10% 10% 10 10
telespor AS Bærum 5% 5% 26 26
total 190 190

note 19 related parties

i) sale of goods and services

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Sales of goods1 188 86� 255 401

ii) purchase of goods and services

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

purchase of goods1 � 729 15 539

iii) remuneration of senior executives

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

pay and other short-term benefits2 7 �81 8 095
option costs 4 124 11 397
Severance pay - 3 088
total 11 505 22 580

iv) Balance sheet items at �1 december resulting from purchase/sale of goods and services

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

receivable from related parties
Shareholders 1 - 16 000
total - 16 000

receivable from related parties:
Shareholders1 1 �71 3 599
Senior executives3 - 3 088
total 1 �71 6 687

1  Kongsberg gruppen ASA owns 19.3 per cent of the shares in Kitron ASA. purchase and sales of goods and services consist almost entirely of transactions 
with Kongsberg gruppen ASA. All contracts and transactions between companies in the Kitron group and Kongsberg gruppen with subsidiaries are made 
on commercial terms at the market price for goods and services.

2    Senior executives comprise the corporate management team at Kitron ASA. Senior executives in norway and Sweden are members of the company’s col-
lective pension scheme. the chief executive has an additional agreement on early retirement. See note 20. Some senior executives have bonus agreements 
related to the company’s results.

3  the amount at 31 December 2004 comprises debt to the previous chief executive in respect of severance pay.
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note 20 remuneration of chief executiVe, directors and auditor

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Directors’ fees 860 816
    - chair 200 200
    - board members 660 616
Auditor’s fees
    - legally-required audit 1 794 1 776
    - other non-auditing services 1 229 1 061

pay and other remuneration to the chief executive in 2005:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) pay 
other 

remuneration
Severance 

pay

president and Ceo 2 112 162 -
former president and Ceo - - 3 088

the president and Ceo is entitled to receive his salary for 18 months if the employer cancels his contract of employment.

the president and Ceo’s contract of employment gives him a right to options. See note 25.

the company has the right to ask the chief executive to resign when he reaches the age of 64. the chief executive has the same right to 
resign. on resigning at the age of 64, the chief executive will continue to receive 50 per cent of his annual salary at the time of his 
departure from the company until he reaches the age of 67. All other remuneration and benefits received by the chief executive from the 
company will cease on his resignation.

note 21 financial expenses

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

interest expenses 1� 009 13 869

other financial expenses 7 4�9 5 786

interest income 1 568 1 564

Currency loss 6 886 5 820
Currency gain (1 912) (5 382)
net currency loss 4 974 438
net financial costs 2� 854 18 529

note 22 mortgages 

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Debt secured by mortgages 79 994 72 202

carrying amount of assets provided as security:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Buildings and land �4 105 41 371
Machinery and equipment 62 667 57 883
receivables 145 626 172 988
inventory 195 �29 216 139
total 4�7 727 488 381
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Debt secured by mortgages includes leasing liabilities for fixed assets treated for accounting purposes as financial leasing. the carrying 
amount of these fixed assets is included in the carrying amount of assets provided as security. of the mortgage debt in the consolidated ac-
counts, the commitment related to leasing recognised in the balance sheet amounted to noK 29.7 million at 31 December 2005 and 20.0 
million at 31 December 2004.

up to noK 115 million in letting rights to buildings has been provided by the group as security. Conditions in the form of vendor’s fixed 
charge are moreover related to deliveries from Kitron’s suppliers of goods.

the group’s receivables recognised in the balance sheet are provided as security (factoring mortgage) for obligations to DnB nor finans 
which arise as a result of possible claims relating to sold accounts receivable. Such claims can only be made in relation to the validity and 
similar aspects of the sold receivables, and do not relate to credit risk, currency risk and the like. the risk for sold receivables has been trans-
ferred to DnB nor finans. Sales of accounts receivable at 31 December 2005 amounted to noK 208 million.

the group’s bankers had provided guarantees at 31 December for leasing obligations and tax due but not paid. these totalled noK 7.5 mil-
lion and noK 14.4 million respectively for the group.

note 2� cash and cash equiValents

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Cash and cash equivalents  11� 229  30 065 

cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement comprise:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Cash and cash equivalents   11� 229    30 065  
overdraft drawn down (�1 9�1) (9 111)
locked-in bank deposits  (28 491)  (30 000)
total  52 807  (9 046)

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Bank overdraft facilities 31 December  85 150  86 300 
net drawn on overdraft facilities 31 December  �1 9�1  9 111 

locked-in bank deposits 31 December
        Security for tax withholding  1 �66  2 900 
        Security for factoring receivables  20 �29  20 000 
        Security for rent guarantee  6 796  7 100 
total  28 491  30 000 

Kitron ASA has established a group account agreement with the company’s principal banks. this embraces Kitron ASA and certain of its 
norwegian subsidiaries.

note 24 leasing agreements

leasing agreements recognised in the Balance sheet

fixed assets:

(Amounts in noK 1 000)
 Carrying amount 

31 Dec 2005   
Depreciation 

for the year
remaining 

lease 
nominal 

rent
present value 
of future rent

Buildings and land 17 214 1 478 13 years 22 790 15 237
Machinery and equipment 24 028 3 521 1-5 years 16 108 14 416

Buildings and land includes factory premises in lithuania.
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specification of estimated rent falling due within:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) nominal rent
present value 
of future rent

1 year  8 737 7 365
2-5 years 16 193 11 463
> 5 years 13 969 10 825

With some of the leases for machinery and equipment, the company has the right to buy the leased object at the termination of the lease 
period. the buy-out price stands at one-three months rent. no such purchase option is included in the lease for buildings and land in 
lithuania.

unrecognised leasing agreements

fixed assets:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) rent in 2005  remaining lease

Buildings and land 29 719 1-10 years
Machinery and equipment 6 718 1-5 years

Buildings and land are located in norway and Sweden.

specification of estimated rent falling due within:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) nominal rent
present value 
of future rent

1 year  33 705 32 128
2-5 years  73 450 63 155
> 5 years  42 588 28 704

With some of the leases for machinery and equipment, the company has a limited right to buy at the termination of the lease period.  
the buy-out price is the normal market price for the relevant leased object.

note 25 shares and suBscription rights senior employees

Schemes have been established for granting subscription rights to senior executives and other key persons. there were 4 000 000 outstand-
ing options at 31 December 2005 4. the share price at 31 December 2005 was noK 2.92 per share. the overview below shows the number 
of shares and subscription rights held by directors and members of the corporate management team at 31 December 2005.

Board number of shares

nerijus Dagilis, chair1 -   
Arne Solberg, deputy chair2 -   
Kjell Almskog, director -
titas Sereika, director3 -
per-erik Mohlin, director -
liv ester Johansen, director -   
preben Jensen, director -   
leif henriksen, observer -   
trygve Størseth, observer -
Magnus B. lindseth, observer -

corporate management number of shares

Jan t. Jørgensen, president and Ceo 4  93 504 
Morten Jurs, chief financial officer  100 003 
Jan Sigvartsen, vice president -
leif tore Smedås, vice president  52 787 
Jonas eklind, vice president -  
Vidar hole, vice president  58 440 

1  nerijus Dagilis is chair of uAB hermis Capital, which owns 69 134 583 shares (39.97 per cent) in Kitron ASA.
2  Arne Solberg is chief financial officer of Kongsberg gruppen ASA, which owns 33 439 153 shares (19.33 per cent) in Kitron ASA.
3  titas Sereika is a vice president of uAB hermis Capital, which owns 69 134 583 shares (39.97 per cent) in Kitron ASA.
4  the chief executive’s contract of employment entitles him for receive 2 000 000 options in the company at a strike price of noK 4.35 and 2 000 000 options 

at a strike price of noK 6.32. the chief executive can decide for himself when to exercise the options, but they must be exercised in tranches of 2 000 000 
and no later than three years after he took office in 2004. After three years, possible unexercised options will be forfeited. Should the chief executive be 
dismissed or resign, unexercised options will be forfeited unless they are exercised within one month from the date of dismissal/resignation. 
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note 26 shares and shareholder information

the company’s share capital at 31 December 2005 comprised 172 961 625 shares with a nominal value of noK 1 each. each share carries 
one vote. there were 3 087 shareholders at 31 December 2005.

the 20 largest shareholders in kitron asa at �1 december 2005:

Shareholder number percentage

uAB hermis Capital  69 134 583 39.97%
Kongsberg gruppen ASA  33 439 153 19.33%
ing luxembourg SA  16 243 000 9.39%
Mp pensjon  10 406 211 6.02%
Statoils pensjonskasse  3 560 305 2.06%
Jp Morgan Chase Bank  3 000 000 1.73%
Statoil forsikring  2 426 520 1.40%
oKo osuupankkien Ke  1 759 000 1.02%
Verdipapirfondet nor  1 592 964 0.92%
A/S Bemacs  1 332 606 0.77%
SeB Vilniaus Bankas  1 284 073 0.74%
SeS AS  1 170 650 0.66%
lauvheim holding AS  740 000 0.43%
AS hansabank  702 000 0.41%
nho’s landsforening  665 495 0.38%
SeB eesti uhispank  653 530 0.38%
Aksjespareklubben tA  500 000 0.29%
BrAS AS  496 000 0.29%
Skandinaviska enskilda  460 000 0.27%
Skjønhaug Malvin  395 685 0.23%
total 20 largest shareholders  149 961 775 86.70%
total other shareholders  22 999 850 13.30%
total outstanding shares  172 961 625 100.00%

note 27 earnings per share

earnings per share is calculated by dividing the group’s net result for the  year with a time-weighted average of the number of outstanding 
ordinary shares in Kitron ASA. Since the company made a loss in 2005, the diluted earnings per share will correspond to earnings per share.

2005 2004

net loss (noK 1 000) (58 9�9)  (73 807)
earnings per share (noK) (0.�9)  (0.56)
Diluted earnings per share (noK) (0.�9)  (0.56)
time-weighted number of shares 151 599 225  131 645 503 
time-weighted number of shares including options 159 2�6 725  141 870 503 

note 28 share capital and share premium reserVe

(Amounts in noK 1 000)
number of 

shares
ordinary 

shares
Share premium 

reserve total

At 1 January 2004 125 543 125 543 353 941 479 484

share option scheme for employees
- received from employees - - 15 205 15 205
new shares issued 9 092 9 092 29 642 38 734
At 31 December 2004 134 635 134 635 398 788 533 423

share option scheme for employees
- received from employees - - 4 837 4 837
new shares issued 38 327 38 327 52 433 90 760
At 31 December 2005 172 962 172 962 456 058 629 020

the general meeting has authorised the board to issue up to 10 million shares for use with the option programme for employees.
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share options
A scheme has been established for granting options to senior executives and key persons. At 31 December 2005, only the chief executive is 
entitled to receive options. See also note 25. the options run until 2007.

change in the number of outstanding share options and related weighted average strike price:

     2005   2004

average strike 
price per share

number of 
options

Average strike 
price per share

number of 
options

At 1 January 6.00 8 850 000 6.22 13 600 000
granted - - 5.40 4 000 000
exercised - - - -
forfeited - - 5.43 8 750 000
expired 6.49 4 850 000 - -
At 31 December 5.�4 4 000 000 6.00 8 850 000

All outstanding options were exercisable at 31 December 2005 (the corresponding figure at 31 December 2004 was 8 850 000).

outstanding share options at �1 december had the following expiry dates and strike prices:

expiry date - 1 october 
Strike price in 

noK per share

Shares

2005 2004

2005 5.98/7.00 - 4 850 000
2007 4.35/6.32 4 000 000 4 000 000
total 4 000 000 8 850 000

the fair value of the options awarded in 2004, calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, was noK 3.6 million. the most 
important input data were the share price at the granting date, the strike price shown above, the standard deviation on the expected share 
yield of 73 per cent, an expected dividend of 0, the term of the options shown above, and an annual risk-free interest rate of 3.73 per cent. 
Volatility measured by the standard deviation for expected share yield is based on a statistical analysis of daily share prices over the past 
three years. no shares were issued in connection with the option programmes during the period.

note 29 cash flow from operations 

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

ordinary loss before tax (58 21�) (71 800)
Depreciation �0 779 36 492
impairment charges 7 897 1 735
(gain)/loss on sale of fixed assets - (1 558)
Change in inventory � 852 67 922
Change in accounts receivable 40 402 (23 960)
Change in accounts payable 4 802 (38 520)
Change in pension funds/obligations (16 628) (7 591)
expensed share-based compensation 4 8�7 15 200
Change in other accrual items (9 870) (10 396)
Change in locked-in bank deposits 1 509 600
interest expense 1� 009 13 869
Cash flow from operations 22 �76  (18 007)
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note �0 conVersion to the international financial reporting standards (ifrs)

in connection with the conversion to the international financial reporting Standards (ifrS), Kitron is reporting its consolidated accounts 
from 2005 in accordance with the ifrS. the annual accounts for 2004 were accordingly the last to be based on norwegian generally ac-
cepted accounting principles (ngAAp). the annual accounts for 2005 present comparative figures for 2004 which have been restated in 
accordance with the ifrS.

the accounting principles applied under the ifrS do not differ significantly for Kitron from norwegian generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples. An overview is provided below of the areas where changes have occurred in the accounting principles and the accounting effects of 
the conversion to the ifrS.

pension commitments
According to ifrS 1, unamortised variances from estimates are set to zero when implementing the new accounting standards. this reduces 
equity and increases results as shown in the tables below.

tax
Kitron has assumed that implemented iAS 12 will reduce the carrying amount of deferred tax asset. this implementation results in a reduc-
tion in equity and increased results as shown in the table below.

goodwill
implementing the ifrS means that goodwill is not longer amortised, but must be tested regularly for impairment. goodwill with a negative 
carrying amount must be set to zero. this results in increased equity and results as shown in the tables below.

share-based compensation
in accordance with ifrS 2, the fair value of granted share options must be expensed in the period from the granting date to the exercise 
date. this reduces results as shown in the table below.

share capital, share premium reserve, unrecognised other equity and retained earnings
implementing the ifrS means that losses in earlier years are presented under retained earnings and not regulated against the share pre-
mium reserve and the share capital. the conversion difference is presented under other equity unrecognised in profit and loss.

current portion of long-term debt
implementing the ifrS means that the current portion of long-term debt is reclassified from long-term to current liabilities.

cash flow statement
in the cash flow statement, cash in hand/bank deposits and draw-down of overdraft facilities are presented net after deducting locked-in 
bank deposits.

effects of implementing the ifrs on results:

(Amounts in noK million) 2004

net loss under ngAAp (88.3)

effects of implementing the ifrs:
pension costs 5.1
tax costs 20.5
goodwill amortisation 4.1
expensed share-based compensation (15.2)
net result under the ifrS (73.8)

effects of implementing the ifrs on equity:

(Amounts in noK million) 01.01.2004 31.12.2004

equity under ngAAp 251.5 202.8

effects of implementing the ifrs:
pension costs (58.7) (53.9)
Deferred tax assets (47.9) (27.9)
goodwill 2.2 7.1
equity under the ifrS 147.1 128.1

�7



consolidated profit and loss account

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2004 (ngAAp) effects of ifrS 2004 (ifrS)

operating income
Sales revenues  1 748 047 -  1 748 047 

operating costs
Cost of goods sold  1 062 104 -  1 062 104 
payroll expenses  518 103 10 082  528 185 
Depreciation and impairments  42 315 (4 088)  38 227 
other operating expenses  172 802 -  172 802 
total operating expenses  1 795 324 5 994  1 801 318 

operating loss  (47 277) (5 994)  (53 271)

financial income and expenses
net financial items  (18 529) -  (18 529)

loss before tax  (65 806) (5 994)  (71 800)
tax  22 513 (20 506)  2 007 

net profit/(loss)  (88 319) 14 512  (73 807)
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consolidated Balance sheet at �1 decemBer

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2004 (ngAAp) effects of ifrS 2004 (ifrS)

assets
fixed assets
tangible fixed assets 120 561 - 120 561
goodwill 13 466  7 120 20 586
investment in shares 190 - 190
Deferred tax assets 47 882  (27 882) 20 000
other receivables 8 334 - 8 334
net pension funds 33 576  (33 576) -
total fixed assets 224 009  (54 338) 169 671

current assets
inventory 246 394 - 246 394
Accounts receivable and other receivables 164 654 - 164 654
Cash and cash equivalents 30 065 - 30 065
total current assets 441 113  - 441 113

total assets 665 122  (54 338) 610 784

liabilitiEs and Equity

equity
equity allocated to shareholders
Share capital and share premium reserve 190 225 343 198 533 423
other equity unrecognised in profit and loss -  (2 155) (2 155)
retained earnings -  (415 759)  (415 759)

Minority interests 12 558 - 12 558
total equity 202 783  (74 716) 128 067

liaBilities
long-term liabilities
loans 52 773  (13 787) 38 986
pension commitments 11 154  20 378 31 532
other provisions 13 822 - 13 822
total long-term liabilities 77 749  6 591 84 340

current liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 367 722 - 367 722
tax payable 1 899 - 1 899
loans 9 111  13 787 22 898
other provisions 5 858 - 5 858
total current liabilities 384 590  13 787 398 377

total liabilities 462 339  20 378 482 717

total liabilities and equity 665 122 (54 338) 610 784
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consolidated cash flow statement

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2004 (ngAAp) effects of ifrS 2004 (ifrS)

cash flow from operational activities  
Cash flow from operations (18 607) 600 (18 007)
interest (13 869) - (13 869)
taxes (569) - (569)
net cash flow from operational activities (33 045) 600  (32 445)

cash flow from investment activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries (8 702) - (8 702)
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets (21 266) - (21 266)
Disposal of tangible fixed assets 6 250 - 6 250
net cash flow from investment activities (23 718) - (23 718)

cash flow from financing activities
proceeds from issuing ordinary shares 42 855 - 42 855
proceeds from new loans 16 391 (9 111)  7 280 
repayment of loans (24 551) - (24 551)
net cash flow from financing activities 34 695 (9 111)  25 584 

Change in cash and cash equivalent (22 068) (8 511)  (30 579)
Cash and bank credit at 1 January 52 134 (30 600)  21 534 
Cash and bank credit at 31 December 30 065 (39 111)  (9 046)
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(Amounts in noK 1 000) note 2005 2004

operating income
Sales revenues 3 27 492 47 827
other operating income - 352
total operating income 27 492 48 179

operating costs
payroll expenses 4, 5, 15 11 6�2 35 772
Depreciation of tangible and intangible fixed assets 6, 7 5 �45 6 372
other operating expenses 14 999 26 866
total operating expenses �1 976 69 010

operating loss (4 484) (20 831)

financial income and expenses
income from investment in subsidiaries - 1 325
intragroup interest income 128 818
other interest income ��9 321
other financial income 2�0 105
other interest expenses 560 1 080
other financial expenses 1 254 894
net financial items 21 (1 117) 595

loss before tax (5 601) (20 236)
tax 9 - 11 451
net loss (5 601) (31 687)

profit AnD loSS ACCount
Kitron ASA
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(Amounts in noK 1 000) note 2005 2004

assEts

fixed assets
intangible fixed assets
Deferred tax assets 9 17 1�7 17 137
goodwill 7 4 646 6 746
total intangible fixed assets 21 78� 23 883

tangible fixed assets
Machinery, equipment, etc 6,18 4 620 7 118

financial fixed assets
investment in subsidiaries 10,18 �71 9�8 300 773
intra-group loans 8,16,18 14 970 37 920
investments in shares 11 26 26
other long-term receivables 1 800 5 621
total financial fixed assets �88 7�4 344 340

total fixed assets 415 1�7 375 341

current assets
receivables
Accounts receivables 8,18 18 757 29 070
other receivables 8,18,19 26 678 8 158
total receivables 45 4�5 37 228

Bank deposits, cash in hand, etc 19 80 916 21 142
total current assets 126 �51 58 370

total assets 541 488 433 711

(Amounts in noK 1 000) note 2005 2004

liabilitiEs and Equity

equity
paid-in equity
Share capital 172 961 625 at noK 1 12, 14 172 962 134 634
Share premium reserve 12 252 087 205 255
total paid-in equity 425 049 339 889

total equity 425 049 339 889

liaBilities
provisions
pension commitments 2, 5 95� 2 098

other long-term liabilities
liabilities to financial institutions 17 2 027 7 684

current liabilities
liabilities to financial institutions 18, 19 18 276 28 029
Accounts payable � 982 3 734
public duties payable 954 2 394
other current liabilities 8, 19 90 247 49 883
total current liabilities 11� 459 84 040

total liabilities 116 4�9 93 822

total liabilities and equity 541 488 433 711

BAlAnCe Sheet At 31 DeCeMBer
Kitron ASA

Kaunas, 28 March  2006

nerijus Dagilis
Chair

Arne Solberg
Deputy chair

Kjell e. Almskog
Director

titas Sereika
Director

per-erik Mohlin
Director

liv Johansen
Director

preben Jensen
Director

Jan t. Jørgensen
president and Ceo
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(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

cash flow from operational activities
ordinary loss before tax (5 601) (20 236)
tax paid for the period - -
ordinary depreciation 5 �45 6 372
Change in accounts receivable 10 �1� (27 534)
Change in accounts payable 247 337
Difference between expensed pension and payments in/out to pension schemes (1 145) 20
Change in other accrual items (14 699) 7 604
net cash flow from operational activities (5 540) (33 437)
  
cash flow from investment activities
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets (747) (4 151)
Acquisition of shares in other companies - (26)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (71 165) (18 928)
repayment of lendings 22 950 -
loan disbursements - (4 500)
net cash flow from investment activities (48 962) (27 605)
  
cash flow from financing activities
new long-term loans - 2 885
repayment of long-term loans (5 657) (13 625)
repayment of short-term loans �8 926 -
net change in overdraft facilities (9 75�) 28 029
equity paid in 90 760 38 241
net cash flow from financing activities 114 276 55 530
  
net change in cash and cash equivalents 59 774 (5 512)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 21 142 26 654
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 80 916 21 142

CASh floW StAteMent
Kitron ASA
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noteS to the ACCountS

aCCounting prinCiplEs
the annual accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the norwegian Account-
ing Act and norwegian generally-accepted 
accounting principles (ngAAp). All amounts 
are in noK 1 000 unless otherwise stated. 

inComE rECognition 
income from the sale of goods and services 
is recognised at the time of delivery. 

Classifying and rECognising 
assEts and liabilitiEs 
Assets intended for long-term ownership or 
use are classified as fixed. other assets are 
classified as current. Accounts receivable 
which fall due within one year are always 
classified as current assets. Analogous crite-
ria are applied in classifying liabilities.

Current assets are recognised at the lower 
of cost price and fair value. Current liabilities 
are recognised in the balance sheet at the 
nominal value on the establishment date.

fixed assets are recognised at their 
acquisition cost. tangible fixed assets which 
decline in value are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their expected useful lifetime. 
fixed assets are written down to their fair 
value where this is lower than the cost price 
and the decline in value is not considered 
to be temporary. long-term debt in norwe-
gian kroner, with the exception of other pro-
visions, is recognised at the nominal value on 
the establishment date. provisions are dis-
counted if the interest element is significant.

intangiblE fixEd assEts 
intangible fixed assets, excluding deferred 
tax benefit, consist of goodwill. goodwill is 
amortised on a straight-line basis over its 
expected useful life.

tangiblE fixEd assEts 
tangible fixed assets are recognised in the 
balance sheet and depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their expected useful lifetime if 
they have and expected lifetime of more than 
three years and a cost price which exceeds 
noK 15 000. Maintenance costs for tangi-
ble fixed assets are recognised as an oper-
ating expense as they arise, while upgrades 
or improvements are added to the cost price 
of the asset and depreciated accordingly. 

the distinction between maintenance and 
upgrading/improvement is calculated in rela-
tion to the condition of the asset when it was 
acquired.

leased fixed assets are recognised in the 
balance sheet as tangible fixed assets if the 
lease is regarded as financial. 

subsidiariEs
Subsidiaries are recognised in the company 
accounts using the cost method. the invest-
ment is written down to its fair value when 
the fair value is lower than the cost price and 
this fall in value is not expected to be tem-
porary.

aCCounts rECEivablE 
Accounts receivable from customers and 
other receivables are recorded at their nomi-
nal value after deducting a provision for bad 
debts. the latter is based on an individual 
assessment of each receivable. An unspeci-
fied provision is made for minor receivables 
to cover estimated bad debts.

short-tErm plaCEmEnts
Short-term placements (shares regarded as 
current assets) are recognised at the lower 
of their average cost price and their fair 
value on the balance sheet date. Dividends 
received and other payments are recognised 
as other financial income.

forEign CurrEnCiEs
holdings in the foreign currencies are trans-
lated at the rates prevailing at the balance 
sheet date.

pEnsions 
pension costs and obligations are calculated 
on a linear earning of pension rights, based 
on assumptions concerning the discount rate, 
future pay adjustments, state pensions and 
other social security benefits, the expected 
return on pension fund assets, and actuarial 
assumptions on mortality, voluntary retire-
ment and so forth. pension funds are recog-
nised in the balance sheet at their fair value 
less net pension commitments. Changes in 
pension commitments relating to changes 
in pension plans are allocated over the aver-
age remaining period of service. the same 
applies to variances in underlying pension 

assumptions to the extent that these exceed 
10 per cent of the larger of pension commit-
ments and pension fund assets (corridor). 
payroll tax is expensed for funded (collective) 
pension plans, and accrued in accordance 
with changes in the pension commitment for 
unfunded pensions.

the company terminated its collective 
funded defined benefit pension plan at 31 
December 2005, and established a defined 
contribution plan.

tax 
tax cost in the profit and loss account com-
prises the sum of tax payable for the period 
and changes to deferred tax or deferred tax 
assets. Deferred tax is calculated at a rate 
of 28 per cent on the basis of temporary dif-
ferences between accounting and tax values, 
plus possible tax loss for carrying forward at 
the end of the fiscal year. tax increasing 
and reducing temporary differences which 
reverse or could reverse in the same period 
are eliminated. and are recorded net in the 
balance sheet. recognition of deferred tax 
assets on net tax-reducing differences which 
have not been eliminated, and tax loss for 
carrying forward, is based on expected future 
earnings. Deferred tax and tax assets which 
can be recognised in the balance sheet are 
stated net.

tax on group contribution paid which is 
recognised as an increase in the cost price of 
shares in other companies, and tax on group 
contribution received which is recognised 
directly against equity, is recognised directly 
against tax in the balance sheet (against 
tax payable if the group contribution has an 
effect on tax payable and against deferred 
tax if the group contribution has an effect on 
deferred tax).

Cash flow statEmEnt
the cash flow statement is prepared using 
the indirect method. Cash and cash equiv-
alents include cash in hand, bank deposits 
and other short-term liquid placements which 
can be immediately and with insignificant 
currency risk converted to known amounts of 
cash and with a maturity which is less than 
three months from the acquisition date.
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note 1 financial risk

interest rate risk
interest on the group’s interest-bearing debt is charged at the relevant market rate prevailing at any given time (three months norwegian 
interbank offered rate – nibor – plus the agreed interest margin). no interest rate instruments have been established in the company. the 
company does not have significant interest-bearing assets, so that its income and cash flow from operational activities are not significantly 
exposed to changes in the market interest rate.

currency risk
exchange rate developments represent a risk for the company both directly and indirectly. no contracts which reduce this risk had been 
concluded at 31 December 2005.

price risk
the raw materials price risk for the company’s business is small. nevertheless, the risk of price fluctuations is hedged through long-term 
purchase contracts as well as the conclusion of strategic agreements with suppliers and other players in the market.

note 2 change of principle

the company has changed its accounting principle for defined benefit pension plans. this was previously based on norwegian generally 
Accepted Accounting Standard (ngAAp) 6, but nrS 6A is now used. When restating the figures in accordance with nrS 6A, the effect on 
the opening balance for 2004 was to reduce equity by noK 2 549 000. the restatement also had an effect of noK 111 000 on the profit 
and loss account for 2004.

note � sales reVenues

Kitron provides development, industrialisation and manufacturing services to the electronics industry in various geographical areas and 
market segments. given that the parent company’s revenues cannot be said to relate to significantly different segments, the sales revenues 
are not broken down further into segments. the business of Kitron ASA is administration of its subsidiaries, and revenues consist primarily 
of group contributions.

sales revenues by geographical area

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

norway 18 896  34 599 
Sweden 6 �87  10 450 
lithuania 2 209  2 778 
total  27 492  47 827

note 4 payroll costs

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

pay  5 9�0  29 072 

payroll taxes  � 17�  3 973 

pension costs  1 �91  976 

other remuneration  1 1�8  1 751 
total  11 6�2  35 772 

Average number of employees 10 30

45



note 5 pension costs, funds and commitments

employees in Kitron ASA are covered by pension plans which give the right to defined future benefits. until 31 December 2005, all employ-
ees in Kitron were covered by funded defined benefit plans (with life insurance companies). At 31 December 2005, the funded plans were 
discontinued and replaced with a contribution-based pension scheme. the plan embraces 24 employees.

employees in Kitron ASA are also covered by unfunded defined benefit plans (Afp early retirement scheme). the company’s chief executive 
is covered by his own unfunded defined benefit plan. 

funded benefits

net pension commitments and overfunded pension commitments can be specified as follows:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

present value of accrued pension commitments  -    5 930 
- value of pension fund assets  -    (4 605)
+/- unamortised variances from estimates  -    48 
+/- accrued payroll taxes  -    195 
net pension commitments/(funds)  -    1 568 

unfunded benefits

net pension commitments can be specified as follows:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

present value of accrued pension commitments  820  340 
- value of pension funds - -
+/- unrecognised variances from estimates  15  124 
+/- accrued payroll taxes  118  66 
net pension commitments/(funds)  95�  530 

pension costs for the year comprise:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

+ present value of pension earnings for the year  ��9  817 
+ interest expense on accrued pension commitments  2�  339 
- expected return on pension fund assets  -    (301)
+ Amortisation of variances from estimates - -
+ payroll taxes  51  121 
net pension cost of unfunded plans  41�  976 
termination recognised in the profit and loss account*  120 
net pension costs included in note 4  5��  976 

* termination recognised in the profit and loss account refers to recognition of pension commitments, premium for technical insurance underfunding, adminis-
tration reserve and payroll taxes at termination, as well as premium payments related to the terminated scheme.

the following economic and actuarial assumptions have been applied:

2005 2004

Discount rate 4.�% 5.5%
expected return 5.�% 6.0%
pay adjustment 2.9% 2.5%
inflation 2.9% 2.5%
pension adjustment 2.4% 2.0%
payroll taxes 14.1% 14.1%
expected utilisation rate (Afp) �0.0% 30.0%
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note 6 tangiBle fixed assets and depreciation

(Amounts in noK 1 000) Machinery and equipment

Acquisition cost at 1 January  18 162 
Additions during the year  747 
Acquisition cost at 31 December  18 909 

Accumulated depreciation 1 January  11 044 
Depreciation during the year  3 245 
Accumulated depreciation at 31 December  14 289 

Book value 31 December  4 620 

useful lifetime 3 – 5 years
Depreciation plan linear

annual lease of fixed asset unrecognised in the balance sheet:

fixed asset length of lease Annual rent

premises > 2007 410
operating equipment > 2010 118
Vehicles > 2008 302

the company has an option to buy leased printers.

note 7 intangiBle fixed assets

(Amounts in noK 1 000) goodwill

Acquisition cost at 1 January 15 146
Additions during the year -
Acquisition cost at 31 December 15 146

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 10 500

Book value 31 December 4 646

ordinary amortisation for the year 2 100
useful lifetime 5 years

goodwill is amortised over its expected useful lifetime.

note 8 intra-group accounts

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Current receivables  44 �71  29 070 
Current liabilities 88 847  42 439 
intra-group loans  14 970  37 920

47



note 9 taxes

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

tax cost for the year breaks down into:
tax payable  -    -   
Change in deferred tax  -    11 451 
total tax cost  -    11 451 

calculation of tax base for the year:
loss before tax  (5 601)  (20 236)
permanent differences*  (1 995)  168 
Change in temporary differences  (2 924)  (649)
tax base for the year  (10 520)  (20 717)

overview of temporary differences
receivables (55) (180)
fixed assets  (2 658) (941)
provisions under good accounting practice  -    (4 058) 
pensions  (952)  (2 098) 
gain and loss account  2 75�  3 441 
total  (912) (3 836)
loss carried forward  (159 271)  (148 752) 
total  (160 18�)  (152 588) 
28% deferred tax  (44 851)  (42 725) 
Deferred tax asset unrecorded in balance sheet  (27 714)  (25 588) 
Deferred tax asset  17 1�7  17 137 

explanation of why tax cost for the year does not equal 28% of pre-tax result
28% of loss before tax  (1 568)  (5 666) 
permanent differences (28%)  (559)  47 
effect of deferred tax asset unrecorded in balance sheet  2 127  5 619
Calculated tax cost - -

effective tax rate** 0.0% 0.0%

* includes non-tax-deductible costs such as entertainment and issue expenses.
** tax cost in relation to pre-tax result.

note 10 inVestment in suBsidiaries

(Amounts in noK 1 000)  Business office
Share-

holding
Voting 
share

equity 
past year

result 
past year

Book 
value

company
Kitron AS Arendal 100% 100% 47 896 (52 713)  232 337 
Kitron Microelectronics AS røros 100% 100% 12 634 4 715  15 848 
Kitron Sourcing AS oslo 100% 100% 9 234 1 541  11 400 
Kitron AB Karlskoga, Sweden 100% 100% 17 055 1 192  44 696 
Kitron Microelectronics AB Jönköping, Sweden 100% 100% 2 677 756  13 463 
Kitron flen AB flen, Sweden 100% 100% 4 473 (6 798)  25 014 
uAB Kitron Kaunas, lithuania 100% 100% 34 564 944  29 180 
total investment in subsidiaries  371 938 

the kitron as subsidiary owns shares in the following subsidiary:

Company  Business office
Share-

holding
Voting 
share

Book 
value

Kilsund teknologi AS Arendal 100% 100% 1 141
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note 11 inVestment in other companies

Company name
 Business 

office
Share-

holding
Voting 
share

Cost
price

Book
value

telespor AS Bærum 5% 5% 26 26

note 12 equity

(Amounts in noK 1 000) Share capital
Share 

premium fund total equity

At 31 December 2004 134 634 205 255 339 889
net loss - (5 601) (5 601)
new capital paid in  38 327 52 433 90 760
At 31 December 2005 172 962 252 087 425 049

note 1� shares and suBscription rights senior employees

Schemes have been established for granting subscription rights to senior executives and other key persons. there were 4 000 000 out-
standing options at 31 December 20054. the share price at 31 December 2005 was noK 2.92 per share. the overview below shows the 
number of shares and subscription rights held by directors and members of the corporate management team at 31 December 2005.

Board number of shares

nerijus Dagilis, chair1  -   
Arne Solberg, director2  -   
Kjell e. Almskog, director -
titas Sereika, director3 -
per-erik Mohlin, director -
liv ester Johansen, director  -   
preben Jensen, director  -   
leif henriksen, observer  -   
trygve Størseth, observer -
Magnus B. lindseth, observer    -

Corporate management number of shares

Jan t. Jørgensen, president and Ceo 4  93 504 
Morten Jurs, chief financial officer  100 003 
Jan Sigvartsen, vice president -
leif tore Smedås, vice president  52 787 
Jonas eklind, vice president  -   
Vidar hole, vice president  58 440 

1  nerijus Dagilis is chair of uAB hermis Capital, which owns 69 134 583 shares (39.97 per cent) in Kitron ASA.
2  Arne Solberg is chief financial officer of Kongsberg gruppen ASA, which owns 33 439 153 shares (19.33 per cent) in Kitron ASA.
3  titas Sereika is a vice president of uAB hermis Capital, which owns 69 134 583 shares (39.97 per cent) in Kitron ASA.
4  the chief executive’s contract of employment entitles him for receive 2 000 000 options in the company at a strike price of noK 4.35 and 2 000 000 options 

at a strike price of noK 6.32. the chief executive can decide for himself when to exercise the options, but they must be exercised in tranches of 2 000 000 
and no later than three years after he took office in 2004. After three years, possible unexercised options will be forfeited. Should the chief executive be 
dismissed or resign, unexercised options will be forfeited unless they are exercised within one month from the date of dismissal/resignation.
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note 14 shares and shareholder information

the company’s share capital at 31 December 2005 comprised 172 961 625 shares with a nominal value of noK 1 each. each share carries 
one vote. there were 3 087 shareholders at 31 December 2005.

the 20 largest shareholders in kitron asa at �1 december 2005:

Shareholder number percentage

uAB hermis Capital  69 134 583 39.97%
Kongsberg gruppen ASA  33 439 153 19.33%
ing luxembourg SA  16 243 000 9.39%
Mp pensjon  10 406 211 6.02%
Statoils pensjonskasse  3 560 305 2.06%
Jp Morgan Chase Bank  3 000 000 1.73%
Statoil forsikring  2 426 520 1.40%
oKo osuupankkien Ke  1 759 000 1.02%
Verdipapirfondet nor  1 592 964 0.92%
A/S Bemacs  1 332 606 0.77%
SeB Vilniaus Bankas  1 284 073 0.74%
SeS AS  1 170 650 0.66%
lauvheim holding AS  740 000 0.43%
AS hansabank  702 000 0.41%
nho’s landsforening  665 495 0.38%
SeB eesti uhispank  653 530 0.38%
Aksjespareklubben tA  500 000 0.29%
BrAS AS  496 000 0.29%
Skandinaviska enskilda  460 000 0.27%
Skjønhaug Malvin  395 685 0.23%
total 20 largest shareholders  149 961 775 86.70%
total other shareholders  22 999 850 13.30%
total outstanding shares  172 961 625 100.00%

note 15 remuneration of senior executiVes, directors and auditor

(Amounts in noK 1 000) pay
other 

remuneration
Severance 

pay

president and Ceo 2 112 162 -
former president and Ceo - - 3 088

the president and Ceo is entitled to receive his salary for 18 months if the employer cancels his contract of employment. the president and 
Ceo’s contract of employment gives him a right to options. See note 13.

the company has the right to ask the chief executive to resign when he reaches the age of 64. the chief executive has the same right to 
resign. on resigning at the age of 64, the chief executive will continue to receive 50 per cent of his annual salary at the time of his departure 
from the company until he reaches the age of 67. All other remuneration and benefits received by the chief executive from the company will 
cease on his resignation.

Certain leading executives have bonus agreements related to the company’s results.

noK 860 000 was paid in fees to directors and the chair in 2005.

nok 1 226 000 was expensed for fees to the auditor of kitron asa. this breaks down as follows:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005

legally-required audit 47�

other non-auditing services 79�

total fees 1 266
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note 16 receiVaBles

noK 14 970 000 of the noK 14 970 000 in intra-group loans at 31 December 2005 falls due later than one year after the end of the fiscal 
year.

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Kitron AS  4 500 34 500
Kitron AB 10 470 3 420
total  14 970  37 920 

note 17 information on long-term liaBilities to financial institutions

long-term liabilities to financial institutions have the following repayment profile:

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2006 2007 2008 2009
2010 

and later

long-term liabilities to financial institutions  
have the following repayment profile  1 022  1 005  -    -    -   

interest is not calculated on the loan. the long-term financing includes covenants relating to such factors as the company’s equity and 
earnings. Due to restructuring costs (see note 15) and acquisition of minority in uAB Kitron (see note 5) the company did not comply with 
these covenants at 31 December 2005. however, through a dialogue with the banks in the subsequent period waivers were issued. the con-
ditions for the loans were renegotiated and the company was in compliance with covenants at the date when the accounts were presented.

note 18 mortgages 

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Debt secured by mortgages 18 276 32 828

carrying amount of assets provided as security

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

Machinery and equipment  4 620  7 118 
investment in subsidiaries  �71 9�8  300 773 
receivables 60 405  75 146 
total  4�6 96�  383 037 

the company’s bankers had provided guarantees of noK 2 million at 31 December 2005 for tax due but not paid in Kitron ASA.

note 19 liquid assets

Kitron ASA has established a group account agreement with the company’s principal banks. this embraces Kitron ASA and certain of its 
norwegian subsidiaries. the annual accounts for Kitron ASA present net deposits/drawings for all the group companies included in the 
scheme. this means that the net deposits/drawings by subsidiaries are recognised as a balance with Kitron ASA.

the company has a cash deposit of noK 20.3 million related to agreements with DnB nor finans concerning the purchase of customer 
receivables.
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note 20 related parties

no loans/security have been provided to the chief executive, the chair or other related parties. no single loan/security totals more than five 
per cent of the company’s equity.

note 21 items consolidated in the accounts

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2005 2004

financial income
other financial income  71  -   
Currency gain  159  105 
total financial income  2�0  105 

financial expenses
other financial expenses  1 156  684 
Currency loss  98  210 
total financial expenses  1 254  894
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the primary motivation is the desire to 
create increased predictability and trans-
parency, and thereby reduce uncertain-
ties associated with the business. Kitron 
seeks to have guidelines for corporate 
governance which accord with the nor-
wegian code of practice in this area.

thE businEss
the company’s business is defined as 
follows in its articles of association:

“Manufacturing activities, purchase 
and sale of shares and companies, devel-
opment and sale of products in an inter-
national market, consultancy activities 
and all activities associated therewith.”

sharE Capital and dividEnd
share capital
the company’s share capital at 31 
December 2005 totalled noK 172.9 mil-
lion. its equity capital at the same date 
was noK 151 million, corresponding to 
an equity ratio of 23.2 per cent. Kitron 
implemented a rights issue and a private 
placement during 2005, raising noK 50 
million and noK 45 million respectively. 
in the board’s view, the company now 
has an equity tailored to the nature and 
scope of the business. the private place-
ment was implemented to strengthen 
the company’s equity position in con-
nection with the approved restructuring 
of Kitron’s norwegian eMS activity. it 
was carried out as a private placement 
because of the board needed to be flex-
ible in putting the issue in place quickly.

dividend
Kitron ASA will pay a dividend corre-
sponding to 30-50 per cent of net profit, 
providing the company’s share capital 
and liquidity position are acceptable.

authorities
existing authorities are described in more 

detail in the shareholder information sec-
tion of this annual report.

Equal trEatmEnt of sharE-
holdErs and transaCtions 
with rElatEd partiEs
Kitron has established guidelines and 
control procedures through an insider 
regulation. these guidelines include a 
definition of what the company deems 
to be insider information and conflicts of 
interest between an insider and the com-
pany. furthermore, all Kitron’s sharehold-
ers have equal voting rights and there is 
only one class of share.

nEgotiability
the shares are freely negotiable.

gEnEral mEEting 
Shareholders exercise ultimate author-
ity in Kitron through the annual general 
meeting. All shareholders are entitled to 
attend a general meeting, where repre-
sentatives of the board and the auditor 
will also be present. notice of the meet-
ing and its agenda are issued at least two 
weeks before a general meeting takes 
place. 

the general meeting deals with such 
matters as are specified by norwegian 
law, including adoption of the annual 
accounts and the directors’ report. it also 
elects directors and the external audi-
tor. the board keeps the general meet-
ing informed about existing remuneration 
and incentive programmes.

ElECtion CommittEE
the company has an election committee 
elected by the general meeting. it is not 
required by the articles of association. 
the present committee has the following 
composition:
titas sereika, chair 
(until the 2007 AgM)

darius Janulevicius 
(until the 2007 AgM)
arne solberg 
(until the 2006 AgM)
Jan eiler fleischer 
(until the 2006 AgM)

two of the election committee members 
are also directors. Kitron will endeavour 
to fulfil the requirements for an election 
committee specified in the norwegian 
code of practice for corporate govern-
ance.

board Composition and 
indEpEndEnCE
Seeing that the board has a composi-
tion which ensures that it always acts 
independently of special interests repre-
sents a significant requirement. the chief 
executive is not a member of the board.

the election committee, on which the 
largest shareholders are represented, 
proposes candidates for election to the 
board. Directors are elected for two-
year terms. the board’s composition is 
designed to ensure that it can discharge 
the supervisory and strategic functions 
which fall within its area of responsibility 
in an effective and proactive manner. 

the present board has the following 
shareholder-elected members:

nerijus dagilis, chair 
(until the 2007 AgM)
arne solberg, deputy chair 
(until the 2006 AgM)
titas sereika 
(until the 2007 AgM)
kjell e. almskog 
(until the 2007 AgM)
per-erik mohlin 
(until the 2007 AgM)

Magnus B. lindseth has also been elected 
as an observer until the 2007 AgM.

CorporAte goVernAnCe

the board of Kitron has adopted principles for corporate governance to safeguard 
the interests of the company’s owners, employees and other stakeholders. these 
principles are also intended to clarify the division of roles between shareholders, 
directors and management, and to help safeguard the interests of owners, employ-
ees and other stakeholders such as customers and suppliers.
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three of the five shareholder-elected 
directors represent uAB hermis Capital 
and Kongsberg gruppen ASA, the com-
pany’s principal shareholders. All the 
shareholder-elected directors are inde-
pendent of the company management.

work of thE board 
the board has overall responsibility for 
safeguarding the interests of sharehold-
ers through good corporate govern-
ance. this also means taking account 
of other stakeholders. furthermore, it 
is the board’s duty and responsibility to 
exercise overall control of the company, 
and to supervise the management and 
the company’s operations. the division 
of roles between board and management 
is specified in Kitron’s rules of procedure 
for the board. in addition, the board has 
established an annual plan for its work 
with a special focus on goals, strategies 
and execution. 

the chair has a particular responsi-
bility for ensuring that the board func-
tions satisfactorily and that its duties 
are discharged in the best possible way. 
this also includes making an assess-
ment of each director’s performance, 
the resources available to the board and 
whether the number of meetings held is 
sufficient for the workload. 

Kitron’s board will serve as a construc-
tive and qualified sparring partner for the 
management. one of its key duties is 
to define appropriate strategies for the 
company. it is important in this context 
that the board, in cooperation with man-
agement, ensures that the necessary 
strategies are continuously developed 
and followed up, and that they are imple-
mented. Kitron has defined performance 
parameters for the strategies adopted 
which enable the company to measure 
performance against specific success 
factors.

relevant financial reports are received 
by the board on a monthly basis. the 
input for these is prepared by the man-
agement of the various subsidiaries. this 
information is checked, consolidated 
and processed by the group’s corporate 
financial staff to produce the final reports 
submitted to the board. reporting also 
covers relevant non-financial details such 
as customers, production, market devel-
opments and logistics. the group has no 
separate internal audit function. Controls 
on the accounts are exercised through 
various forms of division of labour, guide-
lines and approval routines. the cor-
porate financial staff is responsible for 
establishing guidelines and principles. 
the group’s financial transactions are 
handled by the corporate finance staff. 

responsibility for the commercial con-
tent of significant procurement contracts 
rests with the corporate sourcing organi-
sation. 

Annual evaluations of the manage-
ment and its performance are conducted 
by the board. these evaluations also 
cover an assessment of cooperation 
between board and management. the 
results of these evaluations represent 
an important element in remuneration 
and incentive programmes. Such pro-
grammes are described in note 25 to the 
annual accounts.

risk managEmEnt
in a complex business environment, 
the lack of a clear risk picture can have 
substantial consequences for the com-
pany’s value. Kitron accordingly takes a 
systematic and comprehensive approach 
to identifying, controlling and managing 
risk. for Kitron, effective risk manage-
ment is more than a defensive measure. 
it represents a key element in corporate 
strategic planning to create lasting value 
for the company and its owners. Kitron 
takes the view that effective risk manage-
ment can improve its competitive posi-
tion, provide protection against market 
and credit risks, stabilise earnings and 
strengthen profitability. 

integrated risk management calls for 
enhanced awareness at all levels in the 
organisation. this strengthens Kitron’s 
ability to apply multidisciplinary per-
spectives in finding solutions. A unified 
approach means that risk management 
is integrated with other critical processes 
such as budgeting, strategy develop-
ment, reporting, product development 
and quality assurance. 

the choice of optimum approach 
depends on whether the risk in ques-
tion can be transferred to a counter-
party, financed by a third party, limited 
by agreement, or reduced through a real-
location of resources or changing proc-
esses. 

rEmunEration of dirECtors 
remuneration paid to directors reflects 
their responsibility and expertise, the 
amount of time devoted to the work, and 
the complexity of the business. infor-
mation about directors’ remuneration, 
including shares and subscription rights, 
is provided in notes 20 and 25 to the 
accounts. Should directors accept special 
assignments for the company in addition 
to their directorship, this will be reported 
in the annual report. the board must be 
kept informed of such assignments at all 
times.

rEmunEration of sEnior 
ExECutivEs 
guidelines for remunerating senior exec-
utives are specified by the board. the 
president and Ceo is responsible for 
determining such remuneration.

the board considers it important to 
provide Kitron’s key employees with a 
financial incentive which ensures the 
necessary stability and increases motiva-
tion. in the board’s view, such an option 
programme will contribute to a positive 
development in the company’s value, 
with increased interest in the company’s 
shares among potential shareholders. 
the framework for option programmes 
and schemes for awarding shares to 
employees must be approved in advance 
by the general meeting. At the AgM on 
29 April 2005, the board was authorised 
to increase the company’s share capi-
tal by up to noK 10 million through the 
issue of new shares in one or more private 
placements directed at the group’s key 
employees. this authority is described in 
greater detail under shareholder informa-
tion in this annual report.

Kitron reports all forms of remunera-
tion received by the chief executive. See 
notes 20 and 25.

CommuniCation
Kitron wants to maintain good com-
munication with its shareholders and 
other stakeholders. this duty to inform 
is based on openness, and will help to 
ensure that Kitron’s shareholders and 
other stakeholders are able to make a 
continuous assessment of the company 
and its prospects. procedures have been 
established to ensure a flow of relevant 
and reliable information. Kitron presents 
a financial calendar every year with dates 
for important events. the group endeav-
ours to ensure that all shareholders have 
access to the same information.

takEovErs 
the board will not seek to prevent anyone 
from making an offer for Kitron’s busi-
ness or shares. nor will the board exploit 
possible authorities to issue shares in an 
attempt to prevent a bid from succeeding 
unless such a course of action has been 
approved by the general meeting after 
the offer is made public. existing authori-
ties are described in greater detail under 
shareholder information in this annual 
report.

auditor
pricewaterhouseCoopers AS has been 
the company’s auditor in 2005.
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sharE Capital
Kitron ASA has only one share class. 
each share carries one vote at the com-
pany’s general meeting. the shares are 
freely negotiable.

the registered share capital of 
Kitron ASA at 31 December 2005 was 
noK 172 961 625, divided between 
172 961 625 shares with a nominal value 
of noK 1.00 each. the time-weighted 
average number of shares used as the 
basis for calculating key figures is 151 
599 225 (excluding options).

stoCk markEt listing
the company’s share is listed on the 
oslo Stock exchange (ticker code: 
Kit).

During 2005 and up to March 2006, 
Kitron had an agreement with DnB nor 
Markets on a liquidity guarantee for the 
company’s shares. under this arrange-
ment, DnB nor Markets set binding 
purchase and sales prices for the share. 
in addition, Kitron had a market-mak-
ing agreement with fondsfinans ASA. 

this has also been cancelled. these 
arrangements were intended to stimu-
late increased trading the company’s 
shares within the framework provided 
by the oslo Stock exchange’s liquidity 
guarantee scheme.

the share price developed during 
2005 from noK 2.79 per share to noK 
2.92, corresponding to an increase of 
4.7 per cent. A total of 197 820 210 
shares were traded during the year, cor-
responding to a turnover rate of 1.3.

sharEholdEr struCturE
Kitron had 3 087 shareholders at 31 
December 2005, compared with 3 403 a 
year earlier. At the same date, the over-
all foreign shareholding was 54.5 per 
cent. the hermis Capital private equity 
fund acquired all the shares owned 
by Whitecliff ASA in July 2005, and 
became the company’s largest share-
holder. At 31 December, hermis Capi-
tal owned 39.97 per cent of the shares 
in Kitron ASA. Kongsberg gruppen ASA 
is the second-largest shareholder in the 

company, owning 19.33 per cent of the 
shares in Kitron ASA at 31 December 
2005. Kongsberg gruppen is also one 
of the company’s largest customers. 
the 20 largest shareholders collectively 
owned 86.7 per cent of the company’s 
shares at 31 December.

authoritiEs
increasing the share capital
the ordinary general meeting of 29 
April 2005 resolved to authorise the 
board to increase the company’s share 
capital by up to noK 10 million through 
subscription to new shares through one 
or more private placements towards the 
group’s key employees. each option will 
give the employee the right to purchase 
one share in the company, but with the 
right for the company at the exercise 
date to choose to honour the options 
either by the award of shares or by pay-
ing a cash bonus corresponding to the 
value of the options. the board has 
been authorised to determine the sub-
scription price for the new shares and to 
make the necessary amendments to the 
articles of association required by the 
capital increase. this authority remains 
valid for two years from 29 April 2005. 
it can be used for acquisitions pursuant 
to section 5-15 of the norwegian Stock 
exchange Act and section 4-17 of the 
norwegian Act on Securities trading.

the authority had not been exercised 
at 31 December 2005.

An extraordinary general meeting 
on 18 november 2005 authorised the 
board the increase the company’s share 
capital by up to noK 16 million in order 
to strengthen equity through one or 
more share issues following structural 
changes in the group. these measures 
were approved by the company’s board 
on 26 october 2005. the pre-emptive 

ShAreholDer inforMAtion
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right of the shareholders can be set 
aside. the board was authorised to fix 
the subscription price. the authority 
applies for two years from 18 novem-
ber 2005.

Kitron’s board resolved at its meeting 
of 21 november 2005 to implement a 
private placement of noK 15.6 million 
shares at a subscription price of noK 
2.90 per share, corresponding to gross 
issue proceeds of noK 45.24 million. 
no other use has been made of this 
authority.

own shares – authority
the board is not authorised to under-
take transactions in the company’s own 
shares.

dividEnd poliCy
Kitron ASA will pay a dividend corre-
sponding to 30-50 per cent of net profit, 
providing the company’s share capital 
and liquidity position are acceptable.

information poliCy
Kitron wants to maintain good commu-
nication with its shareholders and other 
stakeholders. its information practice 
is based on openness, and will help to 
ensure that Kitron’s shareholders and 
other stakeholders are able to make a 
continuous assessment of the company 
and its prospects. procedures have 
been established to ensure a flow of 
relevant and reliable information. Kitron 
presents a financial calendar every year 
with dates for important events.

risk
to prevent double taxation of share-
holders/companies, the risk scheme 
allows norwegian shareholders to adjust 

the cost of shares for capital gains tax 
purposes in line with changes in taxed 
capital in the company. 

the risk value for fiscal 2005 is 
expected to be noK 0.0 per share.

the risk system has been abolished 
with effect from 1 January 2006 as part 
of a norwegian tax reform, and replaced 
by a shielding method for tax on share 
gains (dividend and price development). 
Share gains will be taxed at a flat rate of 
28 per cent after a calculated shielding 
deduction.

kitron’s 20 largEst sharEholdErs pEr 31 marCh 2006

no. no. of shares name per cent nationality

1 69 134 583 Clearstream Banking CiD Dept., frankfurt 39.97% luX
2 33 439 153 Kongsberg gruppen ASA 19.33% nor
3 23 672 000 ing. luxembourg SA general account 13.69% luX
4 10 406 211 Mp pensjon 6.02% nor

5 2 747 655
Statoils pensjonskasse v/ Statoil Kapital-
forvaltning ASA 1.59% nor

6 1 727 170
Statoil forsikring AS v/ Statoil  
Kapitalforvaltning ASA 1.00% nor

7 1 374 530 AS hansabank clients 0.79% eSt
8 1 354 606 AS  Bemacs c/o advokat Bertel o. Steen 0.78% nor
9 1 342 984 Verdipapirfondet nor v/ nordea fondene AS 0.78% nor

10 1 270 650 SeS AS c/o advokat Bertel o. Steen 0.73% nor
11 665 495 nhos Arbeidsmiljøfond v/ Bjørn lundaas 0.38% nor
12 648 073 SeB Vilniaus Bankas a/c clients account 0.37% ltu

13 560 281
Skandinaviska enskilda Banken  
a/c clients account 0.32% SWe

14 500 000 Aksjespareklubben tA v/ eva Karin haugen 0.29% nor
15 500 000 orion Securities ASA meglerkonto innland 0.29% nor
16 400 000 Sven Kristian nissen 0.23% nor
17 395 685 Malvin Skjønhaug 0.23% nor
18 386 326 AS Skjærdalen eiendom 0.22% nor
19 348 637 Bjørn håheim 0.20% nor

20 330 749
JpMorgan Chase Bank omnibus  
lending account 0.19% uSA
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kitron asa
p o Box 332
no-1326 lysaker, norway
Visiting address:
fornebuveien 1-3, entrance 2, 2nd floor
tel:  +47 66 10 00 00
fax: +47 67 10 64 61

kitron as
Serviceboks 500
no-4809 Arendal, norway
Visiting address:
tangen Allé 39
tel:  +47 37 07 13 00
fax: +47 37 07 13 01

kitron as, dept. development
p o Box 175 Vollebekk
no-0520 oslo, norway
Visiting address:
hans Møller gasmanns vei 9
tel:  +47 66 10 00 00
fax: +47 21 60 06 51

kitron aB
Se-691 80 Karlskoga, Sweden
Visiting address:
Källmossvägen 5
tel:  +46 586 22 20 00
fax: +46 586 22 24 00

kitron aB, dept. development
Se-691 80 Karlskoga, Sweden
Visiting address:
Källmossvägen 5
tel:  +46 586 22 20 00
fax: +46 586 22 22 80

kitron aB, dept. development
p o Box 1053
Se-551 10 Jönköping, Sweden
Visiting address:
Klubbhusgatan 13
tel:  +46 586 22 20 00
fax: +46 36 17 46 55

kitron flen aB
p o Box 213
Se-642 28 flen, Sweden
Visiting address:
Öjavägen 14
tel:  +46 586 22 20 00
fax: +46 15 71 09 20

kitron microelectronics as
Øverhagaen 8
no-7374 røros, norway
tel:  +47 40 00 52 80
fax: +47 72 40 66 01

kitron microelectronics aB
p o Box 1052
Se-551 10 Jönköping, Sweden
Visiting address:
Bataljonsgatan 10
tel:  +46 36 290 21 20
fax: +46 36 290 21 02
 
uaB kitron
taikos 151
lt-3023 Kaunas, lithuania
tel:  +370 7 40 73 00
fax: +370 7 40 73 01

kitron sourcing as
p o Box 332
no-1326 lysaker, norway
Visiting address:
fornebuveien 1-3, entrance 2, 2nd floor
tel:  +47 66 10 00 00
fax: +47 67 10 64 61

ADDreSSeS

Kitron ASA
Jan t. Jørgensen
president and ceo

Kitron Sourcing AS
Jan e. liholt

president

Kitron ASA
morten Jurs

cfo

Kitron AS
Jan sigvartsen

president

Kitron AB
Jonas eklind

president

uAB Kitron
almante medziausiene

president

Kitron  
Microelectronics

leif t. smedås
president

CorporAte MAnAgeMent teAM
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